SBT/CONF.III/15

DEPARTMENT FOR DISAPMAMENT AFFAIRS
REFERENCE LIBRARY

REFERENCE COPY - DO NOT REMOVE

Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof

FINAL DOCUMENT

Utilied Hations

Dyfarement for disagnament afvairs

Reverence Library

Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof Geneva, September 1989

SBT/CONF.III/15 5 October 1989

Original: ENGLISH

Final Document of the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof

The Final Document of the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof consists of three parts and two Annexes as follows:

- I. Organization and Work of the Conference (SBT/CONF.III/15, Part I)
- II. Final Declaration (SBT/CONF.III/15, Part II)
- III. Summary Records of Plenary Meetings (SBT/CONF.III/15, Part III)

Annex I: List of Documents
Annex II: List of Participants

Part I

UNITED NATION PAGE 3
DEPARTMENT FOR DISAFFAMENT AFFAIRS
REFERENCE LIBRARY

Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof

Final Document

PART I

Organization and Work of the Conference

Final Document of the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof

I. ORGANIZATION AND WORK OF THE CONFERENCE

Introduction

1. The Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof, in the section dealing with the review of article VII of the Treaty, contains the following decision:

"The Conference, recognizing the importance of the review mechanism provided in article VII, decides that a third Review Conference shall be held in Geneva at the request of a majority of States Parties not earlier than 1988 and, in any case, not later than 1990. The next conference shall determine in accordance with the views of a majority of those States Parties attending whether and when an additional review conference shall be convened." 1/

- 2. At an informal meeting of States Parties, held during the forty-third session of the General Assembly of the United Nations, it was agreed that the third Review Conference should be held in 1989. At that session, the General Assembly adopted resolution 43/75 M. In its preambular part, the General Assembly recalled resolution 2660 (XXV) of 7 December 1970, in which it had commended the Treaty, noted the provisions of its article VII concerning the holding of review conferences, bore in mind that in its Final Declaration the Second Review Conference had decided that a third review conference should be held at Geneva at the request of a majority of States Parties not earlier than 1988 and not later than 1990, recalled also resolution 38/188 B of 20 December 1983, in which it made an assessment of the outcome of the Second Review Conference, and bore in mind all the relevant paragraphs of the Final Document of the tenth special session of the General Assembly. The operative part of resolution 43/75 M reads as follows:
 - "1. Notes that, following appropriate consultations, a preparatory committee for the third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof is to be established prior to holding a further review conference in 1989;
 - 2. Requests the Secretary-General to render the necessary assistance and to provide such services, including summary records, as may be required for the Review Conference and its preparation;

- Recalls its expressed hope for the widest possible adherence to the Treaty."
- The Preparatory Committee held one session at Geneva from 24 to 27 April 1989. The following States Parties to the Treaty participated in the Preparatory Committee: Afghanistan, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Byelorussian SSR, Canada, Cuba, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, Finland, German Democratic Republic, Germany, Federal Republic of, Ghana, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, India, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Malta, Mexico, Mongolia, Morocco, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukrainian SSR, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America and Yugoslavia.
- At its second meeting on 24 April 1989, the Preparatory Committee elected Mr. Fernando José Moura Fagundes of Brazil as its Chairman. At the same meeting, the Committee elected Ambassador Dimitar Kostov of Bulgaria and Mr. Torbjorn Aalbu of Norway as its Vice-Chairmen.
- The Secretary-General of the United Nations was represented by Mr. Arpad Prandler, Director and Deputy to the Under-Secretary-General for Disarmament Affairs, who opened the session of the Preparatory Committee. Mr. Lin Kuo-Chung, Senior Political Affairs Officer, Department for Disarmament Affairs, served as Secretary of the Committee.
- The Committee, taking note of its written request, decided to invite the representative of a signatory State of the Treaty, the Sudan, to participate in its discussions without the right to take part in the making of decisions.
- The Preparatory Committee, taking note of their written requests, decided 7. to invite the following non-States Parties which have not signed the Treaty: Egypt, Peru, the Philippines, Sri Lanka and Venezuela, to appoint officials to attend meetings of the Preparatory Committee, to receive documents of the Preparatory Committee as well as to submit documents to participants of the Preparatory Committee.
- In the course of its session, the Committee considered the following questions relating to the organization of work of the Conference:
 - (a) Date and duration
 - (b) Provisional agenda

 - (c) Composition of the Bureau
 (d) Rules of Procedure
 (e) Background documentation and date of submission
 - (f) Final document(s).
- At its last meeting, on 27 April 1989, the Preparatory Committee adopted its report, which was issued as a pre-session document of the Conference (SBT/CONF.III/1). The report contained, inter alia, the Provisional Agenda and the Draft Rules of Procedure for the Conference.

- 10. The Committee decided to request the Secretariat to circulate a revised estimate of the cost of the Conference reflecting the actual cost of the session of the Preparatory Committee, which is contained in document SBT/CONF.III/2 and Add.1.
- 11. The Committee decided to request that the following two background papers be issued as pre-session documentation for the Conference:
 - (1) Developments Relating to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof (1977-1989) (SBT/CONF.III/3 and Add.1 and Corr.1);
 - (2) A document containing the information requested in section b (i) and (ii) of paragraph 20 of the Preparatory Committee's Report, namely:
 - (i) A compilation of official communications with regard to the implementation of the objectives and provisions of the Treaty, which the Secretary-General might have received, and
 - (ii) A compilation of papers on technological developments (military as well as peaceful) relevant to the Treaty, which Parties may wish to provide, or which were otherwise available to the Secretary-General from Governments (SBT/CONF.III/4 and Adds. 1-3).
- 12. In its Report, the Preparatory Committee, recalling the request in the Final Document of the Second Review Conference with respect to article V, decided to invite the Conference on Disarmament to proceed promptly with consideration of further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. In that connection, the Conference on Disarmament, in accordance with the decision taken at its 513th plenary meeting, on 29 June 1989, held an informal meeting on 18 July to consider further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. The delegations that participated in the discussion at that informal meeting provided summaries of their statements for the information of the Review Conference, which were circulated in document SBT/CONF.III/3/Add.1.

Organization of the Conference

- 13. In accordance with the decision of the Preparatory Committee, the Conference was convened on 19 September 1989 at the Palais des Nations in Geneva.
- 14. At its 1st meeting, on 19 September, the Conference elected by acclamation as its President, Mr. Sergio de Queiroz Duarte, Ambassador of Brazil to Nicaragua.
- 15. At the same meeting, a message from the Secretary-General of the United Nations, Mr. Javier Pérez de Cuéllar, was delivered by the Special Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Yasushi Akashi, Under-Secretary-General of the United Nations for Disarmament Affairs. Mr. Arpad Prandler served as Representative of the Secretary-General to the Conference.

- 16. The Conference took note with appreciation of the Report of the Preparatory Committee (SBT/CONF.III/1).
- 17. The Conference adopted its Rules of Procedure as recommended by the Preparatory Committee (SBT/CONF.III/5). The Rules of Procedure provided for (a) a General Committee, chaired by the President of the Conference and composed of the Chairman of the Drafting Committee and the Chairman of the Credentials Committee, as well as the 17 Vice-Presidents of the Conference; (b) a Drafting Committee, composed of representatives of the same States Parties represented on the General Committee; (c) a Credentials Committee, composed of a Chairman and Vice-Chairman elected by the Conference, and five other members appointed by the Conference on the proposal of the President.
- 18. The Conference confirmed by acclamation the nomination of Mr. Lin Kuo-Chung as Secretary-General of the Conference. The nomination had been made by the Secretary-General of the United Nations, following an invitation by the Preparatory Committee.
- 19. Also, at the same meeting, the Conference adopted its agenda as recommended by the Preparatory Committee (SBT/CONF.III/6).
- 20. At its 2nd meeting on 19 September, the Conference adopted its programme of work (SBT/CONF.III/7).
- 21. At its 3rd, 5th and 8th meetings on 20, 21 and 25 September, the Conference elected by acclamation 16 Vice-Presidents from the following States Parties: Australia, Ethiopia, German Democratic Republic, Ghana, Hungary, India, Japan, Jordan, Mongolia, Morocco, Nicaragua, Norway, Sweden, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. The Conference elected by acclamation the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman of the Drafting Committee, as follows:

Chairman: Ambassador Dimitar Kostov (Bulgaria) Vice-Chairman: Mr. Rüdiger Lüdeking (Germany, Federal Republic of)

The Conference also elected by acclamation the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman of the Credentials Committee, as follows:

Chairman: Ambassador Eduardo Ibañez y García de Velasco (Spain) Vice-Chairman: Ms. Magda L. Bauta Solés (Cuba)

The Conference also appointed the following five States Parties as members of the Credentials Committee: Austria, Côte d'Ivoire, Cyprus, Czechoslovakia and Mexico.

Participation at the Conference

22. Fifty-three States Parties to the Treaty participated in the Conference as follows: Afghanistan, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Byelorussian Soviet Socialist Republic, Canada, Cote d'Ivoire, Cuba, Cyprus, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, Ethiopia, Finland, German Democratic Republic, Germany, Federal Republic of, Ghana, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, India, Iraq, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Jordan, Luxembourg, Malaysia, Malta, Mexico, Mongolia, Morocco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Norway,

Panama, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America and Yugoslavia.

- 23. In addition, two States, Bolivia and Colombia, which have signed the Treaty but have not yet ratified it, participated in the Conference without taking part in its decisions, as provided in Rule 43, paragraph 1, of the Rules of Procedure.
- 24. Thirteen additional States, neither Party to nor Signatory of the Treaty, were granted by the Conference, upon their application, Observer status in accordance with rule 43, paragraph 2 of the Rules of Procedure: Algeria, Angola, Bangladesh, Burkina Faso, Ecuador, Egypt, Kenya, Nigeria, Peru, Philippines, Sri Lanka, Syrian Arab Republic and Venezuela.
- 25. A list of participants in the Conference, including States Parties, Signatories and Observer States is contained in Annex II.
- 26. The Credentials Committee met on 26 and 27 September and reported on the credentials of representatives of States Parties (SBT/CONF.III/12 and Corr.1). At its 9th plenary meeting on 28 September the Conference took note of the report.

Work of the Conference

- 27. The Conference held nine plenary meetings between 19 and 28 September when it concluded its work.
- 28. The general debate in plenary, in which 28 States Parties made statements, took place from 20 to 22 September. The Conference, at its 7th and 8th plenary meetings, on 25 September, reviewed the provisions of the Treaty article by article, followed by the preamble and purposes of the Treaty. The plenary had before it the following proposals formally submitted by delegations:
 - Proposal for inclusion in the Final Declaration submitted by the delegation of Sweden (SBT/CONF.III/8);
 - (2) Proposal for inclusion in the Final Declaration submitted by the delegation of Turkey (SBT/CONF.III/10).
- 29. At a series of meetings held from 26 to 27 September, the Drafting Committee considered the preliminary text referred to it by the Conference, and submitted its report to the Conference on 28 September (SBT/CONF.III/14 and Corr.1). The Conference, at its 9th plenary meeting, on 28 September, took note of the report.

Documentation

30. A list of the documents of the Conference is attached in Annex I.

Conclusion of the Conference

31. At its 9th and final plenary meeting, on 28 September, the Conference adopted its Final Document as recommended by the Drafting Committee in document SBT/CONF.III/14 and Corr.1). The Final Document consists of three Parts: I. Organization and work of the Conference; II. Final Declaration; and III. Summary Records of Plenary Meetings of the Conference.

II. FINAL DECLARATION

PREAMBLE

The States Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof which met in Geneva in September 1989 in accordance with the provisions of article VII to review the operation of the Treaty with a view to assuring that the purposes of the preamble and the provisions of the Treaty are being realized:

Recognizing the continuing importance of the Treaty and its objectives,

Recalling the Final Declaration of the First Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof held in Geneva from 20 June to 1 July 1977, as well as the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty held in Geneva from 12 to 23 September 1983,

Affirming their belief that universal adherence to the Treaty and particularly adherence by those States possessing nuclear weapons or any other weapons of mass destruction would enhance international peace and security,

Recognizing that an arms race in nuclear weapons or any other types of weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed would present a grave threat to international security,

Recognizing also the importance of negotiations concerning further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof,

Considering that a continuation of the trend towards a relaxation of tension and an increase of mutual trust in international relations would provide a favourable climate in which further progress can be made towards the cessation of the arms race and towards disarmament,

Reaffirming their conviction that the Treaty constitutes a step towards the exclusion of the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof from the arms race, and towards a treaty on general and complete disarmament under strict and effective international control,

Emphasizing the interest of all States, including specifically the interest of developing States, in the progress of the exploration and use of the sea-bed and the ocean floor and its resources for peaceful purposes,

Affirming that nothing contained in the Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 affects the rights and obligations assumed by States Parties under the Treaty,

Taking note of the information concerning the informal meeting held in 1989 under the auspices of the Conference on Disarmament $\underline{1}$ / as well as the communications from the Depositary Governments and other States, $\underline{2}$ /

Appealing to States to refrain from any action which might lead to the extension of the arms race to the sea-bed and ocean floor, and might impede the exploration and exploitation by States of the natural resources of the sea-bed and ocean floor for their economic development,

Declare as follows:

PURPOSES

The States Parties to the Treaty reaffirm their strong common interest in avoiding an arms race on the sea-bed in nuclear weapons or any other types of weapons of mass destruction. They reaffirm their strong support for the Treaty, their continued dedication to its principles and objectives and their commitment to implement effectively its provisions.

Article I

The review undertaken by the Conference confirms that the obligations assumed under article I of the Treaty have been faithfully observed by the States Parties. The Conference is convinced that the continued observance of this article remains essential to the objective which all States Parties share of avoiding an arms race in nuclear weapons or any other types of weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed.

<u>Article II</u>

The Conference reaffirms its support for the provisions of article II which define the zone covered by the Treaty. The Conference agrees that the zone covered by the Treaty reflects the right balance between the need to prevent an arms race in nuclear weapons and any other types of weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed and the right of States to control verification activities close to their own coasts. All States Parties to the Treaty confirm that they have not emplaced any nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed outside the zone of application of the Treaty as defined by its article II and have no intention to do so.

Article III

The Conference notes with satisfaction that no State Party has found it necessary to invoke the provisions of article III, paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 5, dealing with international complaints and verification procedures. The Conference considers that the provisions for consultation and co-operation contained in paragraphs 2, 3 and 5 include the right of interested States Parties to agree to resort to various international consultative procedures. These procedures could include ad hoc consultative groups of experts in which

^{1/} SBT/CONF.III/3/Add.1.

^{2/} SBT/CONF.III/4 and Adds 1-3.

all States Parties could participate, and other procedures. The Conference stresses the importance of co-operation between States Parties with a view to ensuring effective implementation of the international consultative procedures provided for in article III of the Treaty, having regard also for the concerns expressed by some States Parties that they lack the technical means to carry out the verification procedures unaided.

The Conference reaffirms in the framework of article III and article IV that nothing in the verification provisions of this Treaty should be interpreted as affecting or limiting, and notes with satisfaction that nothing in these provisions has been identified as affecting or limiting, the rights of States Parties recognized under international law and consistent with their obligations under the Treaty, including the freedom of the high seas and the rights of coastal States.

The Conference reaffirms that States Parties should exercise their rights under article III with due regard for the sovereign rights of coastal States as recognized under international law.

Article IV

The Conference notes the importance of article IV which provides that nothing in this Treaty shall be interpreted as supporting or prejudicing the position of any State Party with respect to existing international conventions, including the 1958 Convention on the Territorial Sea and Contiguous Zone, or with respect to rights or claims which such State Party may assert, or with respect to recogition or non-recognition of rights or claims asserted by any other State, related to waters off its coast, including, inter alia, territorial seas and contiguous zones, or to the sea-bed and the ocean floor, including continental shelves. The Conference also noted that obligations assumed by States Parties to the Treaty arising from other international instruments continue to apply.

Article V

The Conference reaffirms the commitment undertaken in article V to continue negotiations in good faith concerning further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof.

The Conference notes that negotiations aimed primarily at such measures have not yet taken place. Consequently, the Conference again requests that the Conference on Disarmament, in consultation with the States Parties to the Treaty, taking into account existing proposals and any relevant technological developments, proceed promptly with consideration of further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof.

At the same time, the Conference notes that other arms limitation and disarmament negotiations on measures with wider application that will contribute to the general objectives of the Treaty have been completed, are under way or are contemplated, and will, when successfully implemented, contribute to the effectiveness of the Treaty.

Article VI

The Conference notes that over the 17 years of the operation of the Treaty no State Party proposed any amendments to this Treaty according to the procedure laid down in this article.

Article VII

The Conference notes with satisfaction the spirit of co-operation in which the Third Review Conference was held.

The Conference, recognizing the importance of the review mechanism provided in article VII, and having considered the question of the timing of the next Review Conference and the necessary preparations thereto, decides that the Fourth Review Conference shall be convened in Geneva, in principle not earlier than 1996, at the request to the Depositary Governments of a majority of States Parties to the Treaty, if they consider that relevant developments make this advisable. If the Fourth Review Conference is not convened in 1996, the Depositary Governments shall solicit the views of all States Parties to this Treaty on the holding of the Conference in 1997. If 10 States Parties so request, the Depositary Governments shall take immediate steps to convene the Conference. If there is no such request, the Depositary Governments shall resolicit the views of States Parties at three-year intervals thereafter.

The Conference takes note of the fact that no information has been presented to it indicating that major technological developments have taken place since 1983 which affect the operation of the Treaty. The Conference, nevertheless, recognizes the need to keep such developments under continuing review, and the importance of relevant information in assisting States Parties to decide on the timing of the Fourth Review Conference.

To this end the Conference requests the Secretary-General of the United Nations to report by 1992, and every three years thereafter until the Fourth Review Conference is convened, on technological developments relevant to the Treaty and to the verification of compliance with the Treaty, including dual purpose technologies for peaceful and specified military ends. In carrying out this task the Secretary-General should draw from official sources and from contributions by States Parties to the Sea-Bed Treaty, and could use the assistance of appropriate expertise. The Review Conference urges all States Parties to the Treaty to assist the Secretary-General by providing information and drawing his attention to suitable sources.

Article VIII

The Conference notes with satisfaction that no State Party has exercised its rights to withdraw from the Treaty under article VIII.

Article IX

The Conference reaffirms its conviction that nothing in the Treaty affects the obligations assumed by States Parties to the Treaty under international instruments establishing zones free from nuclear weapons.

Article X

The Conference stresses that the 17 years that have elapsed since the date of entry of the Treaty into force have demonstrated its effectiveness. At the same time, the Conference notes with concern that the goal of the Parties that the Treaty should enjoy universal acceptance has not yet been achieved.

The Conference welcomes the adherence of 10 States to the Treaty since the Second Review Conference, thus bringing the total number of Parties to 82. The Conference calls upon the States that have not yet become Parties, particularly those possessing nuclear weapons or any other types of weapons of mass destruction, to do so at the earliest possible date. Such adherence would be a further significant contribution to international confidence.

Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof

Final Document

PART III

Summary Records of Plenary Meetings

CONTENTS

Corrigendum to Summary Records of the 1st to 9th meetings

SUMMARY RECORDS OF THE PLENARY MEETINGS

1st meeting

Opening of the Conference by the representative of Brazil on behalf of the Chairman of the Preparatory Committee

Submission of the report of the Preparatory Committee

Election of the President

Message to the Conference from the Secretary-General of the United Nations

Adoption of the rules of procedure

Confirmation of the nomination of the Secretary-General of the Conference

Adoption of the Agenda

2nd meeting

Programme of work

Applications for observer status

3rd meeting

Election of Vice-Presidents, Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Drafting Committee and the Credentials Committee

Credentials of representatives to the Conference

(a) Appointment of the Credentials Committee

Adoption of arrangements for meeting the costs of the Conference

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII

A. General debate

Application for observer status

4th meeting

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII

A. General debate (continued)

5th meeting

Election of Vice-Presidents (continued)

Credentials of representatives to the Conference

(a) Appointment of the Credentials Committee

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII

A. General debate (continued)

6th meeting

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII

A. General debate (continued)

7th meeting

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII (continued)

- B. Articles I-XI
- C. Preambular paragraphs and purposes of the Treaty

8th meeting

Credentials of representatives to the Conference

(a) Appointment of the Credentials Committee

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII (continued)

- B. Articles I-XI
- C. Preambular paragraphs and purposes of the Treaty

9th meeting

Adoption of arrangements for meeting the costs of the Conference

Report of the Credentials Committee

Report of the Drafting Committee

Adoption of Final Document(s)

Closure of the Conference

Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof Geneva, September 1989

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.1-9/Corrigendum 24 November 1989

ENGLISH

SUMMARY RECORDS OF THE 1st TO 9th MEETINGS

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, from 19 to 28 September 1989

Corrigendum

The present document contains the corrections received from the participants and the Secretariat applying to the English text of the summary records of the meetings of the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof (SBT/CONF.III/SR.1-9)

With the issuance of the present corrigendum, the summary records of the meetings held by the Third Review Conference are to be considered as final.

1st to 9th meetings

For "Mr. DUARTE" read "Mr. de QUEIROZ DUARTE" throughout.

3rd meeting

Paragraph 8

In the first sentence, for "Ms. Bauta" read "Ms. Bauta Soles".

Paragraph 23

In the first sentence, the symbol should read "(SBT/CONF.III/4/Add.2)".

4th meeting

Page 2

Third paragraph

After the second sentence, delete the remainder of the paragraph and replace by the following text:

The right to verify the activities of other States Parties through observation was fully in conformity with the Law of the Sea. Any attempt at limiting existing rights or constituting new rights inconsistent with international law was considered as unacceptable. It was important that the right of verification through observation be granted without exception and be applied to the whole area beyond the outer limits of the sea-bed zone as defined in article II of the Treaty.

Paragraph 6

Replace the paragraph by the following text:

Consistent with the common interest to ensure that the Treaty continues to effectively prevent the emplacement of any weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed, moves which might harm or jeopardize the Treaty should be refrained from. He hoped that this would be kept in mind when, in accordance with article V, further measures for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof would be considered. If such measures were identified in future deliberations to be conducted in the Conference on Disarmament, and if they should prove to be meaningful and acceptable, separate legal instruments should perhaps be aimed at, rather than amendments to the existing Sea-Bed Treaty.

6th meeting

Page 5

Fourth paragraph

The name of the speaker should read "Mr. COUNINIOTIS".

7th meeting

Paragraph 12

In the third line, replace "complex" by "a complex issue".

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.1 11 October 1989

ENGLISH

Original: FRENCH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 1st MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Tuesday, 19 September 1989, at 10 a.m.

<u>Temporary President</u>: Mr. AKASHI (Secretariat)
<u>President</u>: Mr. DUARTE (Brazil)

CONTENTS

Opening of the Conference

Submission of the Final Report of the Preparatory Committee

Election of the President

Message addressed to the Conference by the Secretary-General of the United Nations

Adoption of the agenda

Adoption of the Rules of Procedure

Confirmation of the nomination of the Secretary-General of the Conference

Election of Vice-Presidents, Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Drafting Committee and the Credentials Committee

Appointment of the Credentials Committee

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the record of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 10.55 a.m.

The TEMPORARY PRESIDENT welcomed participants to the Third Review Conference and proposed that items 1 and 3 of the provisional agenda should be considered together.

It was so decided.

OPENING OF THE CONFERENCE (item 1 of the provisional agenda)

SUBMISSION OF THE FINAL REPORT OF THE PREPARATORY COMMITTEE (item 3 of the provisional agenda)

Mr. DUARTE (Brazil), speaking on behalf of the Chairman of the Preparatory Committee, declared open the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof, and submitted the final report of the Preparatory Committee (SBT/CONF.III/1), which gave an account of the session held by the Committee from 24 to 27 April 1989. All of the Committee's decisions and recommendations had been taken by consensus as a result of the spirit of good will and co-operation displayed by all the delegations participating in its He paid tribute to the invaluable contribution made to the work of the Committee by the other members of the Bureau, Mr. D. Kostov (Bulgaria) and Mr. T. Aalbu (Norway). He also expressed his appreciation to the Secretary-General of the United Nations for his assistance to the Committee under General Assembly resolution 43/75 M, and especially for the effective co-operation the Committee had received from his Special Representative, Mr. A. Prandler, as well as from the Secretary to the Committee, Mr. Lin Kuo-Chung, and his colleagues of the Secretariat.

In addition to the Preparatory Committee's report, the Conference had before it a note on the revised estimated cost of the Third Review Conference (SBT/CONF.III/2); a document entitled "Developments relating to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof (1977-1989)" (SBT/CONF.III/3); and a note by the Secretariat (SBT/CONF.III/4 and Add.1-2) containing a compilation of official communications concerning the implementation of the objectives and provisions of the Treaty received by the Secretary-General as well as papers on technological developments relevant to the Treaty which the Parties had provided or the Secretary-General had obtained from Governments.

Lastly, in paragraph 23 of its final report, the Committee had invited the Conference on Disarmament to undertake appropriate further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. The Conference on Disarmament had held an informal meeting on 29 June 1989 to exchange views on the measures in question; summaries of the statements made by the participants at that meeting had been circulated as an addendum to document SBT/CONF.III/3.

The TEMPORARY PRESIDENT proposed that the Conference should take note with appreciation of the report by the Preparatory Committee (SBT/CONF.III/1).

It was so decided.

ELECTION OF THE PRESIDENT (item 2 of the provisional agenda)

The TEMPORARY PRESIDENT invited nominations for the office of President of the Third Review Conference.

Mr. HUSLID (Norway) nominated Mr. Duarte (Brazil).

Mr. KOSTOV (Bulgaria), Mr. GROSSI (Argentina) and Mr. VARGAS (Nicaragua) supported the nomination.

Mr. Duarte (Brazil) was elected President of the Conference by acclamation.

Mr. Duarte (Brazil) took the Chair.

The PRESIDENT thanked delegations for the confidence placed in him and expressed the hope that, with their help, he would be able to contribute to the successful conclusion of the Conference's task within the allotted time.

Seventeen years had elapsed since the entry into force of the Sea-Bed Treaty and there was good reason to believe that it had proved to be an effective instrument. The obligations set forth in article I had been complied with and, as a consequence, the provisions of article III had never been invoked. Moreover, the previous Review Conferences had been characterized by a remarkable spirit of co-operation.

Nevertheless, there were different assessments on some points. Some considered that there had not been enough information on scientific and technological developments of possible relevance to the purposes of the Treaty. Others, on the contrary, held that that absence of information only reflected the lack of relevant facts to report on. That important question was one of the main reasons for convening the Review Conference, in conformity with article VII of the Treaty.

Assessments also diverged on questions relating to article V. It had been suggested, for example, that the scope of the Treaty should be extended to encompass the entire sea-bed environment "from shore to shore"; another suggestion had been to widen the scope of the present prohibition so as to cover other kinds of weapons. The Third Review Conference thus provided an opportunity to hear arguments for and against those proposals or initiatives.

Actually, those issues did not so much divide as differentiate the participants, and difference was a <u>sine qua non</u> of dialogue; the States Parties all appeared to agree that the elaboration of the Sea-Bed Treaty had been a worthy endeavour and that its implementation had not up to now encountered any difficulties. The Brazilian Government, for its part, held the Sea-Bed Treaty to be a constructive measure in the field of disarmament. Disarmament efforts had also to be preventive and, to that end, had to be imaginative, so as to ban new military applications of technology even before they came to be considered for actual development and deployment.

MESSAGE ADDRESSED TO THE CONFERENCE BY THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS

Mr. AKASHI (Special Representative of the Secretary-General, Under-Secretary-General for Disarmament Affairs) conveyed to the participants the following message from the Secretary-General of the United Nations:

"It is a great pleasure to extend my greetings and best wishes to all representatives participating in the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof.

"The Treaty is an important preventive measure in the field of arms limitation and disarmament. It expresses the awareness of the international community that the extension of the arms race to two thirds of the surface of our planet would only add new dangers to the threats to international peace and security. The Treaty calls for continued negotiations on further measures for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed and the ocean floor and in the subsoil thereof. This commitment was reaffirmed by the General Assembly in the Final Document of its first special session devoted to disarmament as well as by the First and the Second Review Conferences of the Treaty.

"The Treaty recognizes that scientific and technological advances could open possibilities for new military uses of the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. Any activity that could undermine the objectives and purposes of the Treaty is naturally a concern of the international community. That is why one of the main tasks of this Conference is to conduct a thorough review of the current situation, taking into account relevant technological developments. I am sure that the Conference will further benefit from the discussion of this issue which took place in the Conference on Disarmament in July this year.

"It is encouraging to note that eight additional States have acceded to the Treaty since the Second Review Conference, held in 1983, and that today 81 States are parties to the Treaty, including the two major Powers and some of the most significant maritime Powers. I continue to share the belief expressed by the two previous Review Conferences that universal adherence to the Treaty would enhance international security and confidence. It is my sincere hope that this third review of the operation of the Treaty will contribute to further progress in winning its eventual acceptance by all States.

"The current improvement in international relations and the recent achievement of some progress in nuclear disarmament between the two Powers with the largest stockpiles of nuclear weapons are extremely encouraging. We now need to further other aspects of arms limitation and disarmament by bilateral, regional and multilateral forums working in a complementary manner. The conclusion of the Sea-Bed Treaty and its effective operation during the past 17 years serve as important examples of such efforts.

"As expressed in the preamble of the Treaty and reaffirmed in the Final Declarations of the two previous Review Conferences, the Treaty constitutes an important step towards the exclusion of the sea-bed, the ocean floor and its subsoil from the arms race. It also represents important progress towards the ultimate goal of general and complete disarmament under strict and effective international control. It is my conviction that, as before, this Review Conference will produce a sense of renewed commitment and dedication to that objective. I wish you all success in your deliberations."

The PRESIDENT thanked the Special Representative for the statement made on behalf of the Secretary-General of the United Nations.

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA (item 8 of the provisional agenda)

The PRESIDENT invited participants to consider the provisional agenda recommended by the Preparatory Committee (SBT/CONF.III/1, annex I). If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference decided to adopt that agenda.

It was so decided.

ADOPTION OF THE RULES OF PROCEDURE (agenda item 4)

The PRESIDENT drew the attention of participants to the draft rules of procedure proposed by the Preparatory Committee (SBT/CONF.III/1, annex II). If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference decided to adopt those rules of procedure.

It was so decided.

CONFIRMATION OF THE NOMINATION OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE CONFERENCE (agenda item 7)

The PRESIDENT said that the Secretary-General of the United Nations had nominated Mr. Lin Kuo-Chung, Senior Political Affairs Officer at the Department for Disarmament Affairs, for the post of Secretary-General of the Conference, pursuant to rule 10 of the rules of procedure and in conformity with paragraph 25 of the report of the Preparatory Committee. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference decided to confirm that nomination.

It was so decided.

ELECTION OF VICE-PRESIDENTS, CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN OF THE DRAFTING COMMITTEE AND THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE (agenda item 6 (a))

The PRESIDENT suggested that agenda items 5 and 6 (a), for which consultations were still necessary, should be postponed until the next meeting.

It was so decided.

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.2 21 September 1989

Original: ENGLISH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 2nd MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Tuesday, 19 September 1989, at 3 p.m.

President:

Mr. DUARTE

(Brazil)

CONTENTS

Organization of work

Programme of work

Applications for observer status

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the record of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 3.45 p.m.

ORGANIZATION OF WORK

1. The PRESIDENT said that, pending the outcome of consultations among the regional groups in connection with the elections of officers, an informal meeting of the Conference would be held to consider the programme of work for the Third Review Conference.

The meeting was suspended at 3.50 p.m. and resumed at 4.10 p.m.

PROGRAMME OF WORK (agenda item 9) (SBT/CONF.III/CRP.1)

- 2. The PRESIDENT proposed that the programme of work set out in document SBT/CONF.III/CRP.1 should be adopted with some minor adjustments and on the understanding that endeavours would be made to expedite the work of the Conference with a view to completing it ahead of schedule.
- 3. It was so decided.

APPLICATIONS FOR OBSERVER STATUS

- 4. The PRESIDENT announced that applications for observer status had been received, in the order of their reception, from the following countries: Ecuador, Burkina Faso, Syrian Arab Republic, Bangladesh, Angola, Kenya, Venezuela, Nigeria, Sri Lanka, Philippines, Peru and Algeria. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference wished to accept those applications.
- 5. It was so decided.

The meeting rose at 4.15 p.m.

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.3 28 September 1989

Original: ENGLISH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 3rd MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Wednesday, 20 September 1989, at 3 p.m.

President:

Mr. DUARTE

(Brazil)

CONTENTS

Election of Vice-Presidents, Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Drafting Committee and the Credentials Committee

Credentials of representatives to the Conference:

- (a) Appointment of the Credentials Committee

 Adoption of arrangements for meeting the costs of the Conference

 Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII:
 - A. General debate

Granting of observer status to Egypt

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 3.20 p.m.

ELECTION OF VICE-PRESIDENTS, CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN OF THE DRAFTING COMMITTEE AND THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE (agenda item 5)

- 1. The PRESIDENT drew attention to rule 5 of the rules of procedure, concerning the election of officers, and rule 8, on the composition of the General Committee.
- 2. As noted in its report (SBT/CONF.III/1, para. 17), the Preparatory Committee had agreed that the geographical distribution of the posts in the General Committee would be: Africa 4, Asia 4, Latin America and the Caribbean 2, Western Europe and Other States 6 (including the Depositary Governments), and Eastern Europe 4 (including the Depositary Government). Together with the President of the Conference, the 17 Vice-Presidents, the Chairman of the Drafting Committee and the Chairman of the Credentials Committee would form the General Committee.
- 3. In accordance with rule 5 of the rules of procedure, 17 Vice-Presidents had to be elected. The consultations which had been held in the regional groups had led to agreement on the following nominations: for Africa: Ghana and Morocco; for Asia: India, Japan and Mongolia; for Latin America and the Caribbean: Nicaragua; for Western Europe and Other States: Australia, Norway, Sweden, United Kingdom and United States; for Eastern Europe: German Democratic Republic, Hungary and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.
- 4. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference agreed to elect the representatives of those States as Vice-Presidents, on the understanding that the remaining vacancies would be filled later.

5. It was so decided.

6. The PRESIDENT invited the Conference to elect the Chairmen of the Drafting Committee and the Credentials Committee. He understood that, in consultations within and among the groups, it had been agreed that Mr. Kostov (Bulgaria) was to be nominated as Chairman of the Drafting Committee and Mr. Ibañez (Spain) as Chairman of the Credentials Committee. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference agreed to elect them by acclamation.

7. It was so decided.

- 8. The PRESIDENT said that, following consultations, it had been agreed that Mr. Lüdeking (Federal Republic of Germany) should be nominated as Vice-Chairman of the Drafting Committee and Ms. Bauta (Cuba) as Vice-Chairman of the Credentials Committee. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference agreed to elect them by acclamation.
- 9. It was so decided.

CREDENTIALS OF REPRESENTATIVES TO THE CONFERENCE:

- (a) APPOINTMENT OF THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE (agenda item 6 (a))
- 10. The PRESIDENT drew attention to rule 3 of the rules of procedure, which specified that, in addition to the Chairman of the Credentials Committee, the Conference had to appoint five further members of the Credentials Committee on the proposal of the President. Since consultations on that point had not yet been completed, he suggested that the matter should be deferred.
- 11. It was so decided.
- 12. The PRESIDENT said that, notwithstanding that deferral, he would urge those delegations which had not already done so to submit their credentials to the Secretary-General of the Conference as soon as possible. The Credentials Committee, as soon as it was appointed, would thus be able to examine the credentials without delay in accordance with rule 3 of the rules of procedure.

ADOPTION OF ARRANGEMENTS FOR MEETING THE COSTS OF THE CONFERENCE (agenda item 10)

13. The PRESIDENT recalled that in its report (SBT/CONF.III/1, para. 10) the Preparatory Committee had requested the Secretariat to circulate, before the opening of the Review Conference, a revised estimate of the cost of the Conference reflecting the actual costs of the session of the Preparatory Committee. That information had been circulated to all delegations in document SBT/CONF.III/2. Financial arrangements for meeting the costs of the Conference were contained in rule 12 of the rules of procedure.

REVIEW OF THE OPERATION OF THE TREATY AS PROVIDED FOR IN ITS ARTICLE VII:

- A. GENERAL DEBATE (agenda item 11 A)
- 14. Mr. SALANDER (Sweden) said that the Sea-Bed Treaty, which had now been in force for 17 years, had well served its overall objectives. Despite its modest impact on arms limitation and disarmament, it represented an initial step towards the limitation of naval armaments. It had shown that it was possible to agree on multilateral restrictions in that area and, at the same time, safeguard the freedom of the high seas.
- 15. When the Sea-Bed Treaty had been concluded, the aim had been to check a potential arms race within one restricted sector of military technology and the immediate value had been to rule out any future possibility of emplacing nuclear weapons on the sea-bed and the ocean floor. Many States would have been in favour of more far-reaching provisions, but the Treaty had been designed only to cover an area extending beyond 12 nautical miles from the coasts of States Parties. Moreover, the functional scope of the Treaty had been limited to nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction.
- 16. When it had decided to join the Treaty, Sweden had seen it as a means of paving the way for further disarmament negotiations. In the first place, the Treaty represented an initial contribution by nuclear-weapon States to the fulfilment of their obligations under article VI of the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons "to pursue negotiations in good faith on effective measures relating to cessation of the nuclear arms race at an early date and to nuclear disarmament".

- 17. Again, the third and fourth preambular paragraphs, as well as articles V and VII, of the Sea-Bed Treaty indicated that further measures could be agreed. The preamble stated that the Parties to the Treaty were convinced "that this Treaty constitutes a step towards the exclusion of the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof from the arms race". In article V the Parties undertook "to continue negotiations in good faith concerning further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof". Those words implied a clear commitment to the process of more comprehensive disarmament measures. It was therefore appropriate for the Conference to examine a possible extension of the scope of the Treaty.
- With regard to the Treaty's functional scope, it should of course be noted that limitation of offensive weapons was a long-standing priority in arms limitation and disarmament. Consequently, the Treaty prohibited the emplacement of weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed and the ocean floor. However, every State had the right to provide for its military defence, and weapons systems and installations deployed on the sea-bed and the ocean floor for early warning, surveillance and self-defence were of a purely defensive nature. Every sovereign State had the right to install and deploy weapon systems in order to protect its territory from outside aggression. Against that background, the Swedish Government was not prepared to support proposals aimed at including conventional weapons in the weapons categories covered by the Sea-Bed Treaty, which should be limited to weapons of mass destruction for the foreseeable future. That standpoint did not imply that conventional weapons were beyond the scope of international legal regulation. In that connection, he drew attention to the Swedish proposal for a modernization of the protocol on the use of naval mines and torpedoes submitted to the United Nations Conference on Disarmament.
- 19. His delegation had no specific proposal for any amendment, but felt that the Conference should discuss the pros and cons of a possible extension of the Treaty's geographical scope. For example, a "shore-to-shore" scope would exclude the entire sea-bed and ocean floor from the nuclear arms race, a measure that would be a concrete contribution towards nuclear disarmament in accordance with article VI of the Non-Proliferation Treaty. Extending the scope to cover the water space above the sea-bed, however, would not be consistent with the terms of the Treaty. The issue of verification, which involved delicate aspects as well as questions of principle, also required thorough consideration in the light of experience gained in other fields.
- 20. Many important changes had created a partly new environment as far as the Treaty was concerned. Mention could be made in that connection of the Biological Weapons Convention and of the negotiations on a chemical weapons convention in progress in Geneva. There were also bilateral negotiations on substantial reductions of strategic nuclear arms and announcements had been recently made about unilateral withdrawals of sea-based tactical nuclear weapons. Although those conventions and negotiations were not of immediate relevance to the Sea-Bed Treaty, it could be maintained that the Treaty had become part of a wider régime relating to the peaceful uses of the oceans. One of the most important developments in that regard had been the adoption of the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea, which codified many long-standing rules of customary law, while introducing new refined concepts that were pertinent to the implementation of the Sea-Bed Treaty. Since some of those concepts had not yet been legally established when the Sea-Bed Treaty had been

concluded, it was appropriate to consider to what extent certain provisions of the Treaty were affected by the 1982 Convention. Concepts like exclusive economic zones or new rules concerning the continental shelf did not interfere with the provisions of the Sea-Bed Treaty. For example, the right to verify through observation, which was laid down in article III of the Treaty, could in no way be circumscribed by the establishment of exclusive economic zones. The rights enjoyed by coastal States in such zones related exclusively to economic activities and to scientific maritime research.

- 21. In that context, it had been argued that observations under article III of the Treaty referred only to observations that were "incidental to the normal course of navigation". His delegation rejected such an interpretation, for which there was no support either in the wording of article III or in customary international law. It was essential to prevent tendencies towards "creeping jurisdiction" which went further than the 1982 Convention tendencies that could well have an adverse effect on compliance with the Treaty. The principle of the freedom of the high seas had to be maintained and the terms of the Treaty and its control mechanisms must be unequivocally upheld.
- 22. The Conference was called upon to consider recent technological developments relevant to the Sea-Bed Treaty. It had received communications from the Depositary States (SBT/CONF.III/4) on the subject, but the scarcity and generality of the information provided was disappointing. The best course would perhaps be to assign the task of assembling relevant information to an internationally respected expert.
- Sweden had submitted a background paper on technological developments (SBT/CONF.III/4), one which focused on the continued development and emergence of technologies for underwater use that made the sea-bed and the ocean floor more accessible for civilian and military purposes. The potential for effective verification of the treaty could also be enhanced. There were continuing improvements in the technology for manned underwater activities and more advanced operations could now be performed at greater depths. Remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) could be used for various purposes, including inspection and repair and for such military purposes as mine detection. Again improvements in energy sources and techniques for underwater navigation could be expected to extend the range of autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs) to several thousand kilometres. The potentially military application of AUVs included reconnaisance, surveillance, mine detection and emplacement of sensors and weapons. Thus, both AUVs and ROVs could be used to emplace weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed and the ocean floor, yet, they also provided increased verification capabilities. The question of mapping the sea-bed and the ocean floor was a technical issue closely related to the provisions of the Sea-Bed Treaty. The most important method in that connection was the use of sound waves. Recent improvements stemmed primarily from progress in the computer field, which made for improved signal and image processing and interpretation of data. Clearly, such examples pointed to interesting technological developments relevant to the compliance with the Sea-Bed Treaty and progress in those fields should be followed closely. Naturally, the Sea-Bed Treaty did not, and could not, interfere with the scientific and economic exploration of the sea-bed and the ocean floor.
- 24. Lastly, it still seemed reasonable to assume that it would not at present be militarily advantageous to emplace nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed and ocean floor. The Treaty prohibited such action, even if military advantages were conceivable. In his opinion, the

Treaty could successfully continue to serve its objectives, and in the period leading up to the next Review Conference, consideration should be given to the possibility of extending the geographical scope of the Treaty. The development of relevant off-shore and submarine technology should be followed closely. His delegation proposed that the present Conference should take a decision on how best to promote that end.

- Mr. NEGROTTO CAMBIASO (Italy) said that more than 17 years had elapsed since 18 May 1972, the date on which the Sea-Bed Treaty had entered into force. On that date, the international community had committed itself to preventing nuclear weapons from being placed in a vast geographical area which up until then had been free of them. Although such an objective might be regarded as limited, it was of the utmost importance that all the parties, by faithfully complying with the Treaty's requirements over the past 17 years, had helped to prevent a nuclear arms race on the sea-bed and to foster international confidence and security. The Conference had been convened, in accordance with article VII, to ensure that the purposes of the preamble and the provisions of the Treaty were being realized, and also to assess and possibly strengthen the Treaty's effectiveness. If those important objectives were to be attained, the Conference should solemnly reaffirm the continued commitment of all the parties. No effort should be spared to enlarge participation in the treaty, beginning with those countries which possessed nuclear weapons. Universal adherence to the terms of the Treaty in the shortest possible time would significantly help to strengthen of international peace and security.
- 26. His Government, in accordance with the policy it had consistently pursued, was ready to consider any measure likely to promote concrete progress in the field of disarmament. It had accordingly welcomed the Treaty as an effective instrument for attaining general and complete disarmament, although he agreed with the suggestion by the Secretary-General in his message the previous day that it was an instrument which could be further improved.
- 27. His delegation would be prepared to consider any measure that other parties considered useful and pertinent. As just indicated by the Swedish representative, agreement on such a measure seemed to be becoming more feasible both from the political and the technological point of view in the framework of the current rapid pace of developments on the international scene. In that connection, it was interesting to note a suggestion made at the informal session of the Conference on Disarmament for a possible extension of the terms of the Treaty to areas including territorial waters an area where it could be useful to explore carefully a possible extension of the régime of the Treaty.
- 28. He continued to believe that the basic principles set out in articles I and II remained valid. The verification régime provided for under article III had not revealed any shortcomings, and it could be hazardous to attempt to alter it. However, his delegation would be prepared to consider whether the régime could be improved by including further forms of co-operation.
- 29. It was gratifying to hear from all the depositaries that none of the technological advances made so far had been identified as affecting the purposes or implementation of the Treaty. However, with a view to promoting greater confidence and transparency in such an important field, there was room for a wider distribution of information on technological developments with a potential bearing on the Treaty. It could be done on a voluntary basis, and would not affect the security requirements of any State Party.

- 30. Mr. DIETZE (German Democratic Republic) said the Conference was dealing with a significant system of treaties, one to which his country attached the highest importance. The Secretary-General, in his message, had rightly described the Sea-Bed Treaty as an important preventive measure against the arms race in two thirds of the globe. It represented an essential element in the system of agreements providing for arms limitation and disarmament. its entry into force 17 years ago, the Treaty had been an effective instrument against the proliferation of nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction, and also against the spread of the arms race to the sea-bed. His delegation had come to the Conference with the intention of strengthening the Treaty and of pressing for the conclusion of agreements designed to halt and eventually terminate the arms race in seas and oceans. The recent fifieth anniversary of the start of the Second World War by Hitler's invasion of Poland had been a vivid reminder that war, whether nuclear or conventional, must never recur. On 1 September 1989 his country's parliament had reaffirmed that never again would war spring from German soil, and that had been the credo of the German Democratic Republic from the very first day of its existence.
- 31. The time had come to give up striving for superiority, and to stop clinging to doctrines of nuclear deterrence. The disarmament process initiated by the INF Treaty should be continued, and should be followed by further treaties. His country, together with other member countries of the Warsaw Pact, had played its part in promoting that process and would continue to do so in future. It was crucial for all mankind to rid large areas of the globe of nuclear and other weapons of mass destruction. Besides the Sea-Bed Treaty, other instruments which had helped to achieve that end had been the Antarctic Treaty, the Outer Space Treaty, the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, and the Treaties of Tlatelolco and Rarotonga. His country welcomed those accords, and would work to strengthen them. Together with Czechoslovakia, it had declared its support for establishing a nuclear-weapon-free corridor and a chemical-weapon-free zone in central Europe.
- The Sea-Bed Treaty's significance consisted, firstly, in having banned from large areas of the Earth's surface an arms race involving perilous weapons; secondly, in having provided possibilities for wide-ranging verification; and thirdly, in having helped to improve the climate for negotiations on further arms limitation and disarmament, particularly in the nuclear field. The Treaty had lost none of its relevance. Indeed, new developments in armaments technology and the stepping-up of the naval arms race meant that it had become all the more necessary to make determined efforts to maintain and reinforce it. Sweden's proposal to establish an ad hoc expert group to keep technological developments affecting the Treaty's operation under review was of interest and called for serious consideration. It would be of great political significance if more States - especially those possessing nuclear weapons - acceded to the Treaty. His country advocated complete demilitarization of the sea-bed, and accordingly supported proposals for further measures in the context of article V. The Geneva Conference on Disarmament would be a suitable forum for addressing that issue. In view of the increased technological possibilities for exploitation of the sea-bed, both for economic and scientific and for military purposes, effective means of verification would need to be provided for. The United Nations should play a more important part in endeavours in that connection. Despite its significance, the Treaty covered only one aspect of the arms race in maritime matters. The current escalation of naval armaments posed serious risks for

international and regional security, and the issue had rightly become a focus of attention within the United Nations, as well as in a bilateral and regional framework.

- In regard to the Soviet/United States negotiations on strategic offensive weapons, his country was in favour of an effective limitation of submarinelaunched ballistic missiles, and a prohibition or limitation on sea-going cruise missiles under strict verification. It was imperative for naval armaments to be included in the disarmament process, and notably in negotiations between the Soviet Union and the United States and members of the Warsaw Pact and the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) on naval forces. Proposals by the non-aligned States for the establishment of zones of peace in the Indian Ocean and the South Atlantic clearly deserved support. At the Third Special Session of the General Assembly, his country had put forward comprehensive suggestions for the limitation and reduction of naval armaments. They had included the conclusion of agreements on such confidence-building measures as the notification of movements and manoeuvres by naval forces, the invitation of observers to naval exercises and manoeuvres and limitations on the number and scale of such exercises; the conclusion of a multilateral agreement on the prevention of incidents on the high seas; the establishment of United Nations naval forces; the limitation and reduction of sea-based tactical nuclear weapons; and the withdrawal of specific types of naval armaments from specific regions of the seas and oceans. Obviously, a reliable system of verification would need to be envisaged in that connection.
- The sea-bed and ocean floor and the subsoil were rich in resources, and the Sea-Bed Treaty was an important landmark on the road to ensuring that they were exploited for peaceful purposes. The 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea required those resources to be used for the benefit of all mankind. His delegation was working towards that end in the Preparatory Commission for the International Sea-Bed Authority. Measures guaranteeing the complete demilitarization of the sea-bed would further encourage peaceful exploitation of the seas and oceans. He supported the views of all those who had urged in the course of the debate that effective steps be taken to strengthen the Treaty. With that aim in mind, the final document to be adopted by the Conference should include a number of essential points. It should emphasize the importance of the Treaty and urge that it be strengthened; call upon further countries, notably nuclear-weapon States, to accede to it; endorse the convening of negotiations on measures for the complete demilitarization of the sea-bed; advocate exploitation of the seas and oceans for exclusively peaceful purposes under international law; and encourage the trend towards the limitation and reduction of naval armaments.
- 35. Ms. SOLESBY (United Kingdom) congratulating the President on his unanimous election, said that the accession to the treaty of a country with such significance and standing as Brazil had considerably enhanced the significance of the Treaty itself. The Treaty had been negotiated at a time when there was a danger that nuclear missiles might be encapsulated for emplacement on the sea-bed or in its subsoil. Such missiles promised to match the accuracy of land-based systems, while enjoying the higher degree of protection afforded by the presence of water on all sides. By pre-empting such developments, the Treaty had acted as a stabilizing factor during a period of intense competition for the extraction of mineral resources from the sea-bed. Its success had been confirmed by the fact that all States parties

had adopted the Final Declarations at both the First and the Second Review Conferences by consensus. Since the Second Review Conference, in 1983, seven more States had acceded to the Treaty and no State party had felt its national interest was so much at stake as to require withdrawal. Her delegation urged all States, and in particular the two nuclear—weapon States which had not yet done so, to accede as soon as possible to the Treaty.

- 36. It was a matter for general satisfaction that there had been no observed infringement of the Treaty and no need to invoke the verification procedures in article III. The Treaty had thus been a quiet success in the area of nuclear arms control and had contributed effectively to international security.
- 37. A central issue at the present Conference would no doubt be the question of technological developments which might affect the operation of the Treaty. As requested by the Preparatory Committee, her Government had already presented to the Secretary-General of the United Nations a background paper on technological developments relevant to the Treaty. The paper, which affirmed that the United Kingdom did not believe any technological developments since 1977 required revision of the Treaty, centred on the questions whether any technological developments would make it militarily advantageous to emplace nuclear weapons on the sea-bed and whether such developments made it easier to emplace such weapons on the sea-bed or to detect their emplacement. On the first question her Government had concluded that improvements in submarine navigation eroded any advantage to be gained from fixed missile installations on the sea-bed, and on the second question it had come to the conclusion that any advantages conferred by greater capability of working on the sea-bed were outweighed by enhanced facilities for inspection and detection. As at the previous Review Conferences, her delegation welcomed the opportunity to exchange views on that aspect of the Treaty.
- 38. In the past, some delegations had drawn attention to the Treaty's limited scope. Two main possibilities were available for change under the terms of article V, which called for negotiations on further measures, namely an extension of the scope of the Treaty to include weapons other than nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction, and an extension of the Treaty zone. Her Government's views on the matter had been made clear at earlier Review Conferences and at the informal plenary session of the Conference on Disarmament held in July 1989 to discuss the Sea-Bed Treaty. It did not think that further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed were currently necessary or practicable.
- 39. Again, the technology for effective verification of less visible conventional military equipment on the sea-bed was not yet available. Among other problems to which it would give rise, a suitable régime would require an enormous world-wide verification process on a scale which could not be considered realistic. Her delegation would agree with those who argued that an effective régime of that kind, even if restricted to certain activities such as submarines bottoming in the regional territorial seas or adjacent to continental shelves of other States, might be worthwhile in terms of confidence-building and the reduction of tension. From the standpoint of verification, however, such measures might not currently be practicable. For example, while her Government would in principle support any proposal to ban hostile mine-laying in the vicinity of other countries, and while detection of laid mines was feasible, identification of their owner was much more difficult, and perhaps indeed impossible. Even an approach based simply on

confidence-building would not work, since measures such as declarations of stockpiles would simply engender suspicion in the absence of effective verification, and would thus be destabilizing.

- 40. If, in fact, any aspect of sea-bed arms control were to be considered ripe for development, it should be brought before the Conference on Disarmament, and should take the form of new arms control treaties.
- 41. The other possible extension to the existing provisions of the Treaty was an expansion of the Treaty zone to include territorial waters. In that connection, the First and Second Review Conferences had agreed that the zone covered by the Treaty reflected the right balance between the need to prevent an arms race involving nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed, and the rights of States within their own coastal waters. That view, her delegation believed, remained valid. She saw no need to revise the provisions in that area of the Treaty, which continued to serve the interests of States parties. As her delegation had made clear at the informal session of the Conference on Disarmament, her Government had no intention of emplacing nuclear weapons or any weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed, whether outside or within the territorial waters of the United Kingdom. While her Government thus had no objections to applying the principles embodied in article I to the territorial sea, it foresaw major difficulties in extending the scope of the Treaty in that way, and the verification régime in particular.
- 42. Her delegation looked forward to discussing that and other aspects of the Treaty in the course of the Conference. It also welcomed the opportunity to review the functioning of the Sea-Bed Treaty and to learn of any developments since the last Review Conference which might influence its operation. Preliminary discussion in the Preparatory Committee suggested that the majority of the States parties saw little or no need for adjustment. Actually, the Sea-Bed Treaty had proved itself an effective measure of arms control, and there was every reason to believe that it would continue to serve the international community as effectively in the years to come. She trusted that the Third Review Conference, like its predecessor, would reaffirm in unambiguous terms the strong support of all States parties for the Treaty, their continued dedication to its principles and objectives, and their commitment to implementing its provisions.
- 43. Mr. LAMAZIERE (Brazil) said that his delegation could on the whole agree with the assertion that only a few States parties currently possessed technology capable of monitoring possible violations of the Treaty - those very States which theoretically possessed the technology to develop and emplace nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction in the areas covered by the Treaty. Nevertheless, the fact that no violation had ever been reported could be considered as a reliable indication that the obligations assumed under article I had until now been fulfilled by all parties. To that extent, the Treaty had proved effective, in that it had achieved the goals albeit limited - for which it had been devised. In his view, its preventive character did not detract from its relevance. Brazil had played an active part in negotiations for the conclusion of the Treaty, both in the 18-Nation Disarmament Committee (ENDC) and its successor, the Conference of the Committee on Disarmament, as well as in the United Nations General Assembly. The Treaty represented a significant step in the long and painstaking road toward general and complete disarmament under effective international control.

- 44. Brazil's contribution to those negotiations had been designed to ensure that in the search for adequate procedures for verification, the legitimate interests of coastal States would not be harmed or left unprotected. all the more important since it was mainly within the framework of the verification process that the majority of States parties to the Treaty would eventually be called upon to play a more active role. It was for that reason that, throughout the negotiations, his delegation had stressed that Brazil understood the word "observation" in paragraph 1 of article III to refer only to observation incidental to the normal course of navigation, in accordance with international law. Another issue of great importance to his Government, and one which it considered to be satisfactorily reflected in the final text of the Treaty, was the issue of the right of the coastal State to be previously notified of, and to participate in, any verification activity carried out in areas adjacent to its coasts. That right was embodied in paragraphs 2 and 3 of article III, which took into account the direct and vital economic and security interests of the coastal State.
- 45. In addition to securing disarmament, another aim of the Brazilian delegation since the inception of negotiations had been to avoid any unnecessary prejudice to parallel but distinct questions of the law of the sea currently being negotiated in other forums. In that connection, his delegation had made the following statement upon deposit of the instrument of ratification: "The Brazilian Government wishes to state that nothing in the present Treaty shall be interpreted as in any way prejudicing the sovereign rights of Brazil in the area of the sea, the sea-bed and its subsoil adjacent to the Brazilian coast, in accordance with the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea."
- 46. Brazil considered the Sea-Bed Treaty to be a constructive addition to collateral measures of non-armament. He hoped that the Review Conference would not only confirm the Treaty's effectiveness hitherto, but would also consider in the context of article V measures to widen its application.
- 47. Mr. KORNEENKO (Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic) congratulated the President on his election and went on to say that recent events and the rapid pace of scientific and technological developments clearly showed that there was no alternative to a peaceful international order based on the new political thinking, on the pre-eminence of universal human values and on the primacy of law over force. The beginnings of genuine nuclear disarmament had already been established, and a whole class of nuclear weapons was being eliminated. However, it should be borne in mind that the historic significance of that event could only be fully realized if it was followed by additional measures. Unfortunately, there had not so far been any crucial turning-point in that respect, and military and nuclear confrontation remained at a high level. It was therefore more necessary than ever to take specific steps to eliminate the threat of war and to reduce stockpiles of weapons. should also be borne in mind that an uncontrolled naval arms race was continuing, and that, thanks to advanced modern technology, naval forces now possessed a devastating strike potential. There were enormous concentrations of such forces in various parts of the world, constituting a threat to security, and it was therefore perfectly obvious that all the States concerned, and particularly those with a large navy, should enter into negotiations on that specific issue.

- 48. His delegation considered that the Sea-Bed Treaty played an important part in the régime of international instruments aimed at decelerating the arms race and at strengthening peace and international security. As already pointed out, there had been no violation of the Treaty's provisions for 17 years, and the verification procedures had never had to be invoked.
- 49. His delegation was strongly in favour of putting an end once and for all to the deployment of any kind of weapons on the sea-bed. Article V of the Treaty made it binding for States to hold further talks with that aim in view, and his country was ready to undertake such negotiations. In that connection, there were long-term prospects of expanding the scope of the Treaty, for example by a ban on the emplacement on the sea-bed not only of weapons of mass destruction but also of other types of weapons, and also a ban on the establishment of military bases and any other military installations, provided of course that there was appropriate monitoring machinery. Measures of that kind had already been proposed and it was important that they did not merely remain on paper but served as a stimulus for discussion and detailed study. He took a positive view of the proposals to establish an organizational structure to evaluate developments and science and technology relating to the Treaty's scope of application and to consider questions with regard to the monitoring of its implementation.
- 50. In his message to the Review Conference, the Secretary-General of the United Nations emphasized that the Treaty was an important step towards universal and complete disarmament, and that the Conference would help to reaffirm commitment to that goal. His delegation urged all States to do what they could to ensure that the world's oceans become a zone of peace and co-operation rather than a focus of military confrontation.
- 51. As to the final document of the Conference, he favoured the adoption by consensus of a final declaration reflecting the agreed positions of the States parties to the Treaty. It would be appropriate for the declaration to contain a reaffirmation of the continuing importance of the Treaty and its objectives in the task of strengthening peace and international security and in averting the arms race, particularly in relation to nuclear weapons on the sea-bed. It would also be useful to urge the Conference on Disarmament once again to give consideration, as a matter of priority, to any further measures that might be taken in that area. It was gratifying that the number of accessions to the Treaty since the previous Review Conference had risen to 81, but regrettable that not all the nuclear-weapon States had as yet acceded to the Treaty or ratified it.
- 52. Mr. HUSLID (Norway) said the Conference was taking place at a time of encouraging developments in the field of arms control and disarmament, of which the INF Treaty was a major example. Talks between the United States and the Soviet Union in the field of arms control and disarmament were continuing, with good prospects of further progress. The Vienna negotiations held out the promise of significant reductions in conventional forces in Europe and of the development of additional confidence-building measures. Moreover, negotiations in the Conference on Disarmament on a chemical weapons convention were advancing slowly but steadily.
- 53. It was his delegation's hope that all those negotiations would prove successful and would contribute to the long-term objective of securing peace and stability at the lowest possible level of forces. That had been the spirit in which the Sea-Bed Treaty itself had been drafted and concluded.

- 54. His Government was well satisfied with the operation of the Treaty, which the United Kingdom representative had rightly described as "a quiet success". Within the framework of its scope and purpose, the Treaty had proved a useful instrument. Accordingly, one of the chief aims of the conference should be to reaffirm the strong support of the Treaty by States parties, along the lines agreed at the two previous review conferences. No State party had yet found any reason to invoke the provisions of article III concerning international complaints and verification procedures, and in that respect the situation was the same as it had been six years ago. In his view, that showed that the Treaty had been successful in contributing to the exclusion the arms race from its area of application.
- 55. The Treaty applied to an area of the globe which had been the scene of rapid technological developments over the last few decades, and the Conference was required under article VII of the Treaty to take into account any such developments. Norway was actively involved in off-shore oil and gas activities and to its knowledge, all technological developments had so far been channelled towards peaceful applications in the form of exploitation of the resources of the sea-bed and of its subsoil. Advances in sonar technology, for example, now made it feasible to monitor developments on the sea-bed, and that technology, which was freely available on a commercial basis, had enlarged the range of verification techniques.
- 56. The verification provisions in article III of the Treaty were complex, but in his delegation's view that complexity had not hampered effective implementation of the Treaty. Norway continued to believe that the 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea would have no direct effect on the continued operation of the Sea-Bed Treaty. On the contrary, Governments should be on guard against any tendency to restrict the enjoyment by all members of the international community of the rights and freedoms exercisable by all States, both on the high seas and within maritime areas, in which coastal States exercised jurisdiction in conformity with international law.
- 57. His delegation remained flexible on the question of whether and at what time a further review conference should be convened. In the past, review conferences had been valuable both in terms of attracting attention and support for the treaties concerned, and in terms of providing a useful forum for an exchange of views between States parties. He believed another review conference should be held, but had no fixed views as to when it should be convened.
- 58. Unfortunately, a considerable number of countries were still not parties to the Treaty. He would support a strong appeal from the Conference to non-party States, including non-party States possessing nuclear weapons, to accede to the Treaty.

GRANTING OF OBSERVER STATUS TO EGYPT

- 59. The PRESIDENT said he had been informed that Egypt had applied to participate in the Conference as an observer. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference agreed to grant Egypt observer status.
- 60. It was so decided.

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.4 20 October 1989

ENGLISH Original: FRENCH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 4th MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Thursday, 21 September 1989, at 10 a.m.

President: Mr. Duarte (Brazil)

CONTENTS

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII

A. General debate (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 10.20 a.m.

REVIEW OF THE OPERATION OF THE TREATY AS PROVIDED FOR IN ITS ARTICLE VII (agenda item 11)

A. GENERAL DEBATE (continued)

Mr. LUDEKING (Federal Republic of Germany) said that, in the 17 years the Treaty had been in force, it had demonstrated its effectiveness, as evidenced by the Final Documents of the two previous Review Conferences. As far as it was in a position to judge the present situation, his delegation drew the same conclusion about the period since the 1983 Conference, namely that there was no evidence of any violation of the Treaty. Besides, the fact that the provisions of article III had not been invoked could be taken as an indication that the article had operated smoothly.

That assessment was also valid for article VII of the Treaty and the question of technological developments. The Federal Republic of Germany had carefully studied the situation and had not identified any new technological developments that affected the purposes or specific provisions of the Treaty.

Furthermore, technological progress could also strengthen the effectiveness of the Treaty, since it could help to improve verification methods. In that connection, his country considered that the measures and procedures provided for in article III of the Treaty were adequate. The right to verify the activities of other States Parties through observation was fully in conformity with the law of the sea and any attempt to limit the exercise of those rights or to constitute new rights was unacceptable because it was inconsistent with international law. It was therefore important to emphasize the need fully to respect the right of verification through observation, a right that should be applied in the sea-bed zone defined in articles I and II of the Treaty.

The Federal Republic of Germany fully subscribed to the articles IV and IX and hoped that the Third Review Conference would reaffirm their validity, as had the first two Conferences.

Since the previous Review Conference, seven more countries had joined the Treaty, thus increasing the total number of States Parties to 81; he hoped that the present Conference would provide an incentive to States that had not already done so to accede to the Treaty without delay, in order that that instrument of international law - the importance of which was unfortunately sometimes underestimated - could become truly universal.

In order to ensure that the Treaty continued in the common interest to prevent the emplacement of any weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed, any attempt to weaken its effectiveness should be stopped and he hoped that participants in the Conference would bear that in mind when, in accordance with article V, they came to consider the question of new measures for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. If such measures were identified deliberations conducted in the Conference on Disarmament and if they should prove to be meaningful and acceptable, separate legal instruments should perhaps be aimed at rather than amendments to the existing Sea-Bed Treaty.

Lastly, he hoped that on completion of its review, the Conference would reach the conclusion that, during the period in question, the purposes of the preamble and the provisions of the Treaty had been achieved.

Mr. CLINARD (United States of America) said that, at the First Review Conference, in 1977, the States Parties had confirmed in a final declaration adopted by consensus, that the basic prohibitions of the Treaty had been faithfully observed by the States Parties. At the Second Review Conference, in 1983, the States Parties had confirmed, in a final declaration also adopted by consensus, that the basic prohibitions of the Treaty contained in article 1 continued to be faithfully observed by the States Parties.

Since the Second Conference, the United States had received no indication of concern with regard to compliance with any provision of the Treaty. The United States, for its part, was unaware of any evidence to indicate non-compliance with any provision of the Treaty by States Parties and was therefore prepared to join with all other parties participating in the Review Conference to confirm once again that the basic prohibitions of the Treaty continued to be faithfully observed by all States Parties.

In short, the Treaty was in good health and the United States saw no need at present to amend or modify it. If any amendments were to be proposed, they should be studied separately from the review mechanism.

The Government of the United States did not favour the proposal to extend the zone of application of the Sea-Bed Treaty. The limits of the zone covered by the prohibitions contained in the Treaty were defined in article II in the interest of the security of States Parties, a consideration that was just as valid in 1989 as it had been in 1972. The United States, like many other States Parties, could not agree that the verification régime currently provided for should be extended to territorial waters. However, it had not emplaced any nuclear weapons or any other weapons of mass destruction on the bed of its territorial waters nor had it any intention of doing so.

Furthermore, it was gratifying to report that, in the talks between the United States and the USSR on strategic arms reduction (START), both parties had agreed, inter alia, to prohibit the emplacement on or tethering of ballistic or cruise missile launchers to the ocean floor or to the beds of internal waters or the subsoil thereof. When that obligation became effective, it would apply to all areas of the ocean floor and the sea-bed, including the sea-bed zone referred to in articles I and II of the Treaty.

With respect to article V, his delegation felt that the "further measures" did not apply exclusively to the sea-bed area. Thus, for example, the major reductions in strategic nuclear weapons envisaged under the START treaty could contribute to the achievement of the Sea-Bed Treaty's objectives. Similarly, the negotiations on banning chemical and radiological weapons would also contribute to the sea-bed arms control régime of the Treaty.

Since the Second Review Conference, scientific research and interest in the sea-bed and ocean floor has continued to grow. However, it was worth noting that nothing in the literature or data from that research suggested that any activities contrary to the provisions of the Treaty were under way. Such scientific activity would certainly continue to increase and would help to build confidence or point up any possible areas of concern. For its part,

the United States, which had conducted a full research into the question, could categorically state that there was no arms race on the sea-bed and no evidence of one in the offing. Military activity involving the sea-bed had to be consistent with the Treaty for all States Parties and consistent with customary international law for all States. For the present, the United States Government had no reason to believe that such was not the case.

It was clear that the Sea-Bed Treaty was functioning well and that its prospects for the future were excellent. He was particularly pleased at the number of new parties to the Treaty since the Second Review Conference, and hoped that States which had indicated an interest in joining the Treaty by participating in the Conference as observers would also accede.

Lastly, he proposed that the Conference should request those States that were not parties to the Treaty, including those which had significant maritime interests, to become parties and that the Conference should urge those States which had signed the Treaty but had not yet ratified it to do so before the next Review Conference.

Mr. VARGA (Hungary) said that the Third Review Conference had started its work under favourable conditions: internationally, military confrontation was diminishing, political considerations were gradually taking priority over military considerations in the settlement of issues of international and national security, and rivalry was yielding to dialogue, as could be seen in the fruitful dialogue between the USSR and the United States. Any conference on disarmament matters should contribute, however modestly, to furthering that trend.

Hungary was a party to all the multilateral agreements in the field of disarmament and had contributed to the elaboration of several of them, including the one under review. Being a land-locked country it was not a significant maritime power, but its interest in the Treaty was obvious in the wider political context, through its decision actively to support any serious effort made at the international level to limit weapons and to achieve disarmament. Hungary wished all the results obtained in that area to be preserved and strengthened and hoped that the Third Review Conference would constructively review the operation of the Sea-Bed Treaty and adopt a substantive final declaration on it.

His Government maintained the view that the Sea-Bed Treaty had been operating effectively since its entry into force. The parties had completely fulfilled their basic obligations laid down in article I and no allegations of violation had been made nor had there been any necessity to invoke the provisions of article III. The Treaty had undoubtedly fulfilled its fundamental role by limiting the military uses of the sea-bed. The Government of Hungary therefore continued fully to support the Treaty, its principles and objectives and was interested in further strengthening it in its present form. It was to be hoped that the present Conference would yield positive results and therefore gain universal acceptance for the Treaty, to which an overwhelming majority of States had already acceded.

It would be remembered that, in the negotiations that had led to the adoption of the Treaty, a considerable number of States, including Hungary, had been in favour of complete demilitarization of the sea-bed. In the end those countries had none the less accepted a compromise text that was in all

respects much more limited in scope, a fact which had frequently given rise to justified criticism but which also explained the obligation contained in article V to continue negotiations on further measures for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed and the ocean floor. The Government of Hungary, for its part, was prepared to take part in such negotiations and would entertain any suggestions to that effect. The least that the Conference could do was to renew the undertaking given in article V and perhaps draw up concrete suggestions for its application.

At the two previous Review Conferences, a number of States had claimed difficulties of a technical nature in implementing the provisions for verifying compliance. It was significant in that respect, to note that one of the Depositary States (SBT/CONF.III/4) had stated that, as a result of the related peaceful, scientific research "the effective technical facilities for monitoring compliance with the provisions of the Sea-Bed Treaty" were at hand.

His delegation would do everything in its power to ensure that the Review Conference adopted a final document where States Parties would unequivocally voice their positive assessment of the operation of the Treaty, reaffirm their support for it and, above all, pledge their commitment to fulfil the obligations undertaken in it, including the appropriate implementation of article V. A strong appeal should be made to all those States that were not yet parties, particularly the nuclear-weapon States, to accede to the Sea-Bed Treaty without further delay.

Mr. VAJNAR (Czechoslovakia) said that Czechoslovakia supported all measures to reduce the risk of nuclear war and had therefore actively participated in drafting and adopting the Sea-Bed Treaty. His Government had been one of the first to sign and ratify the Treaty, which contributed to the economic and scientific exploration of the sea-bed and ocean floor for peaceful purposes. Since its adoption, the Treaty had proved a useful and effective international instrument within the framework of the policy of the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons and the first two Review Conferences had confirmed that its purposes had been fully respected. Six years had elapsed since the Second Conference and his delegation considered that there had been no cases of violation of the Treaty. It welcomed the fact that an ever increasing number of States was acceding to it and hoped that the two nuclear-weapon States that had not yet signed the Treaty did not look on their non-participation as a permanent option.

The present Conference should confirm that the provisions of article I had been faithfully respected by all States Parties and that article II, which defined the zone of application of the Treaty, reconciled both the interests of the Treaty itself and the rights of the coastal States. With respect to article III, his delegation noted with pleasure that no State Party had had to invoke the consultation provisions, but it was prepared to consider any proposal for more effective co-operation in implementing the Treaty. Article IV continued to ensure that no provision of the Treaty was in conflict with other existing international conventions, customary international law or the rights of the coastal States. Concerning article V, his delegation noted as it had in 1983, that no negotiations on further measures had yet taken place. Czechoslovakia would welcome any constructive proposals in that regard and pointed out that the Soviet Union and the other socialist countries were willing to start specific negotiations on complete demilitarization, including

the elimination of military bases and other military facilities from the sea-bed. The Conference on Disarmament would be the most suitable setting for such negotiations.

Complete elimination of nuclear weapons, which was the wish of the whole of the international community and the subject of several specific proposals, including those put forward by the socialist countries would constitute the strongest possible guarantee that the Sea-Bed Treaty was fully respected. His delegation reaffirmed its willingness to participate actively in the work of the Conference and in drafting a balanced and constructive final document.

Mr. CHIRILA (Romania) said that the work of the Conference had opened in a complex and serious international climate, as indicated by the fact that there were still huge stockpiles of nuclear weapons in the world. The destructive capacity of those weapons had only been slightly changed by the Treaty between the USSR and the United States on the Elimination of Their Intermediate-Range and Shorter-Range Missiles and even ran the risk of increasing because nuclear forces were being modernized. At the same time, there were large stocks of chemical weapons and the armoury was growing greater with the production of binary weapons. In various international forums Romania had always spoken in favour of a comprehensive approach to It had neither nuclear nor chemical weapons and since 1986 it disarmament. had undertaken unilateral measures to reduce its weapons, troops and military expenditure. The Sea-Bed Treaty, despite its limited scope, objectives and the number of States that had acceded to it, was an important international instrument in the efforts to halt the arms race, especially in the nuclear The Conference was required to examine the implementation of the provisions of the Treaty as well as the conclusions of the first two Review Conferences as set out in their Final Documents. For its part, Romania had fulfilled all the obligations that it had assumed in acceding to the Treaty.

One of the Treaty's most important provisions was article V, under which States Parties undertook to pursue negotiations in good faith on further disarmament measures, in order to prevent the arms race from spreading to the sea-bed and ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. Unfortunately, however, since the Treaty's entry into force, the arms race, in particular the nuclear arms race, had continued and had taken on a wider dimension, especially in In view of the objectives of the Treaty and given the present naval affairs. international situation, the Conference should take specific and effective measures to speed up the disarmament process. To that end, Romania wished to see first of all complete demilitarization of the sea-bed and the ocean floor and the maritime spaces in general, and with that in mind, an extension of the Treaty so as to prohibit the emplacement on the sea-bed of any system of weapons of mass destruction including nuclear sea-mines and other military installations. Romania also advocated a halt to the nuclear arms race beginning with the complete reduction of all nuclear weapons in maritime areas.

Furthermore, Romania deplored the fact that there had been so many accidents involving military surface vessels and submarines carrying nuclear weapons and devices which subsequently found their way to the sea-bed and the ocean floor. In order to prevent accidents of that kind, the number of exercises carried out by surface vessels and submarines equipped with nuclear weapons should be drastically reduced, as should the number of all military vessels on the high seas in general, and complete withdrawal of all of those

vessels from international waters should be envisaged over the long run. Furthermore, any State whose ships caused an accident should immediately advise the United Nations, which would in turn inform the other Member States. In that connection, his country considered that the United Nations should redouble its efforts to encourage the creation of nuclear-free zones in different parts of the world.

The majority of States Parties to the Treaty, especially the small— and medium—sized countries, had difficulty in obtaining information on the technical progress made in installing systems or devices on the sea—bed and ocean floor; consequently, a number of measures should also be envisaged to that end, such as the creation, possibly within the framework of the Conference on Disarmament, of a group of experts to review technological developments with military applications within the framework of the Treaty; the establishment through the United Nations, of an information system on the main technological developments that could be used for evaluating the implementation of the Treaty and the monitoring, by the United Nations and other competent organizations, of attempts by some States and non-governmental institutions to place toxic or radioactive waste or substances on the sea—bed. His delegation reaffirmed its support for any measure to strengthen the scope and effectiveness of the Treaty, as well as any negotiations to prevent any arms race in the seas and oceans.

Mr. WALKER (Australia) said that one of his country's deepest concerns was to see an end to the nuclear arms race and the achievement of nuclear disarmament; Australia worked actively to pursue that goal at the bilateral, multilateral and regional levels. The history of the arms race, both nuclear and conventional, was not a source of pride, but the recent developments in East-West relations, in arms control and disarmament and in the settlement of regional conflicts gave hope for a clear and enduring reversal of the trends of the past.

The Sea-Bed Treaty was one of a series of conventions designed to prevent the deployment of nuclear weapons in specific geographical areas. on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, the most important and far-reaching of all the multilateral treaties against nuclear weapons, specifically commended regional treaties of that type. Such treaties included the Antarctic Treaty of 1961, the 1967 Outer Space Treaty, the 1979 Agreement governing the Activities of States on the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies and the Treaty for the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons in Latin America, or Treaty of Tlateloclco, which had also been signed in 1967 and provided for the first denuclearized zone covering a populated region. Unfortunately, the latter treaty had not yet come into force in all the Latin American countries. Lastly, the South Pacific Nuclear Free Zone Treaty, or Treaty of Rarotonga, in which the aim of the States Parties was to make the maximum possible use of their sovereign powers as well as the pre-existing body of international law, had come into force in 1986. It stipulated that the Sea-Bed Treaty prohibitions applied to the South Pacific and extended those prohibitions to the territorial waters of the States Parties. The Treaty of Rarotonga, therefore, reflected the spirit of the Sea-Bed Treaty and took concrete steps to expand the principle that the sea-bed and ocean floor should be free of nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction.

Australia therefore regarded the Sea-Bed Treaty not only as an important, if modest, part of the fabric of international law directed towards restraining the nuclear arms race but also as a "living" treaty that contributed to the expansion of that fabric. The Treaty had been in force for 17 years without any violation having taken place, something which meant that it had served its purpose well. It should not, however, be viewed as an immutable document. Indeed, the very purpose of the present Conference was both to review the implementation of the Treaty and to discuss possible improvements to it. Australia would support any moves to strengthen the Treaty's central purposes.

The question of adherence to the Treaty was of major concern to Australia and it noted with satisfaction that, since the latest Review Conference, eight countries had joined the community of State Parties and several others had signed the Treaty. A number of countries, however, continued to remain outside the Treaty and it was a source of particular concern that two nuclear-weapon States, France and China, had not yet acceded to it, although in practice they had complied with it. He hoped that both countries would promptly take the necessary steps to bring their international commitments into line with their practice and urged that the Conference should appeal to all countries which had not yet acceded to the Sea-Bed Treaty to do so without further delay.

Another point of concern to Australia was the interrelationship of evolving customary international law and the eventual entry into force of the Convention on the Law of the Sea and the application of the Sea-Bed Treaty. Australia wished to avoid interpretations that would unnecessarily diminish the protection afforded by the Sea-Bed Treaty. It was a matter of particular relevance to the archipelagic States, which had a particular interest in securing for themselves the benefits of the Sea-Bed Treaty, the more so because of the relatively shallow waters around their territory, where the risk of the emplacement or implantation of nuclear weapons might be greater than in deep oceanic waters. Relatively few States in that group were parties to the Treaty and it was to be hoped that that situation would be improved.

As to technological developments and their impact on the Treaty, Member States should keep each other well informed of such developments and, as appropriate, the Treaty should be broadened to take account of any developments harmful to the Treaty. In general, however, since the previous Review Conference, technical changes had been such as to render the implantation of nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction on the ocean floor less useful and to increase the likelihood of such an action being discovered.

Lastly, Australia expressed its satisfaction at the Treaty's continuing viability and effectiveness and intended to participate actively in the present review, in order to reassert the valuable role that the Sea-Bed Treaty played in assisting the process of nuclear arms control.

Mr. WATANABE (Japan) said that the Treaty represented a partial but significant step towards eliminating nuclear weapons and other types of weapons of mass destruction. His delegation expressed the hope, as it had done on other occasions, that the negotiations on that subject would be sincerely pursued and accelerated with a view to achieving that ultimate goal, while maintaining the principle of deterrence and taking into account the overall balance among all weapons systems.

The Treaty's limited purpose and scope should not cause its importance to be underestimated. It was an important arms control measure to prevent a possible arms race, in particular a nuclear race, in a region that covered about two thirds of the earth's surface. Japan, as a maritime country, considered that the remarkable technical and scientific progress made in the exploration and use of the sea-bed had considerably enhanced and would continue to enhance the role of the Treaty. It would be desirable if the States Parties could agree to expand the scope of the Treaty's prohibitions, but the immediate goal of the Conference should be, first of all, to consolidate the agreement already achieved, so that it could serve as a stepping stone for the next stage.

With respect to the territorial scope of the Treaty, Japan hoped that, although the prohibitions of the present Treaty did not apply to coastal States within the 12-mile zone, the States Parties concerned would voluntarily refrain from implanting nuclear weapons on the sea-bed within that zone.

It was encouraging to note that since the Second Review Conference, there had been no notification of alleged violations of article I and that no State Party had found it necessary to invoke the provisions of article III. It was his delegation's hope that all States Parties would continue faithfully to observe the obligations set forth in those two articles. However, mere expression by the States Parties of their basic pledge to observe treaty provisions was not enough to ensure effective implementation of a disarmament and arms control agreement, unless it was accompanied by an international framework of verification that could be invoked as promptly as possible in the event of any alleged violation. His delegation would therefore consider carefully any useful and concrete proposal to improve the verification system provided for in article III of the Treaty.

Furthermore, the preamble of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference stated that nothing contained in the Convention on the Law of the Sea affected the rights and obligations assumed by States Parties under the Treaty. In that connection, Japan wished to stress its conviction that the Treaty should not be weakened by any action that would reduce the area covered by the Treaty.

The universality of the Treaty should be further promoted in order to enhance its effectiveness. His delegation welcomed the fact that eight more countries had become parties to the Treaty but strongly appealed to those that had not already done so, in particular the two nuclear-weapon States, to accede as soon as possible.

Lastly, Japan was pleased to note that the operation of the Treaty had not so far been affected by recent technological developments. However, in view of the development of technology with both peaceful and military applications, it was indispensable to keep under constant and careful review the question of keeping the nuclear arms race out of the sea-bed.

Mr. LEE (Republic of Korea) said that his Government attached special importance to the Sea-Bed Treaty, which it regarded as a constructive step towards the ultimate goal of general and complete disarmament under effective international control, as well as a useful instrument for promoting international peace and security and the use of the sea-bed for peaceful purposes. The Republic of Korea had faithfully observed the provisions of

the Treaty since ratifying it in June 1987 and would continue to honour the commitments that it had assumed by that decision. It welcomed the fact that the Treaty had so far been respected by all the States Parties and had proved its effectiveness by preventing an arms race on the sea-bed.

As to the relationship between articles II and IV of the Treaty and the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, which had not yet entered into force, his delegation felt that the question should be examined in the future in order to harmonize both instruments.

On the subject of article III, he noted that an effective verification system was a key element of any disarmament agreement and would point out that only a small number of States Parties possessed the necessary technical means to detect and verify possible violations of the Treaty. It was therefore essential to devise the necessary procedures to provide international assistance to States without the technical and financial capacity, so as to ensure that equal rights were given to all parties under the Treaty.

With regard to article V, his delegation was of the opinion that the multilateral negotiations for the examination of further disarmament measures should be resumed with a view to keeping the nuclear arms race out of the sea-bed area.

With reference to article VII, it was essential at all times to ascertain whether the Treaty remained compatible with technological developments. The review mechanism provided for in the article was therefore very useful. His delegation welcomed the fact that the progress achieved so far in marine technology had not affected the operation of the Treaty. However, given the rapid development of underwater technology with both civilian and military applications, States Parties should receive adequate information.

His delegation was convinced that universal adherence to the Treaty would strengthen its effectiveness and it noted with satisfaction that eight more States, including his own, had become parties to the Treaty since the Second Review Conference. It felt, as did many other delegations, that the present Conference should make every effort to ensure that States that had not yet become parties should do so at the earliest possible date. Lastly, since the review process was a necessary mechanism to ensure the proper functioning of the Treaty, his delegation was prepared to support any suggestion to hold a fourth review conference.

Mr. BERDENNIKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) said that the international climate today was quite different from and more positive than in 1983, at the time of the Second Review Conference. In the meanwhile, the international community had succeeded in resuming the dialogue between States in all fields, in removing the threat of nuclear war and in making real progress towards disarmament. The 1987 Treaty between the USSR and the United States on the Elimination of Their Intermediate-Range and Shorter-Range Missiles had begun the process of nuclear disarmament. The Soviet Union was sparing no effort to conclude very promptly an agreement with the United States to reduce strategic nuclear weapons by 50 per cent. Both countries now seemed to be ready to sign new protocols on verification of the treaties signed in 1974 and 1976, limiting underground nuclear explosions. The USSR was doing everything possible to secure the adoption of a multilateral convention

banning chemical weapons and, at the regional level, within the framework of the Vienna negotiations, of arrangements on the limitation of conventional armed forces.

There was every reason to be satisfied with the operation of the Sea-Bed Treaty: no weapon of mass destruction, whether nuclear or otherwise, had been emplaced or implanted on the sea-bed since the Treaty had come into force. No State Party had been accused of violating its provisions nor had any resorted to the procedures provided for in article III, or denounced the Treaty. The number of States Parties or signatories was constantly increasing, which attested to the value the international community set on that instrument. The Treaty was, however, far from being universal and it would be useful for the Conference to urge all Member States that had not already done so, especially the nuclear-weapon States, to ratify or accede to it.

With respect to technological developments, it seemed that the Treaty was being strengthened as time went by. Like other countries, the Soviet Union held that those developments made it less useful from the military point of view to install weapons of mass destruction, whether nuclear or conventional, on the sea-bed. In particular, the development of some weapon systems such as submarines, was steadily cutting down the advantage that certain fixed nuclear missile launchers gave. Furthermore, the new generation of observation and monitoring systems - the MIR manned deep-water submersibles, for example - increased the chances of detection.

As to the implementation of the provisions of article V, the Soviet Union was prepared to begin negotiations on further disarmament measures in the area governed by the Treaty. It should not be forgotten that the USSR had wanted from the outset to ban all military uses of the sea-bed: it had agreed to reduce the scope of application of the instrument that was finally negotiated only because it believed that the Treaty would merely be a first step towards preventing the arms race on the sea-bed and that progress would continue in that direction. The Soviet Union felt therefore that the immediate need was to study the possibility of adopting measures to ban the emplacement of any base, construction or other military installation on the sea-bed. Naturally, such measures should be accompanied by adequate monitoring mechanisms. The USSR thought that it would be technically possible to verify whether such a ban was being respected and that States Parties, on the basis of reciprocity and for purposes of inspection, should have access to any installation or construction implanted on the sea-bed.

Other States proposed instead to extend the scope of the Treaty to territorial waters and to internal waters. The Soviet Union had no objection to such a suggestion and would be prepared to adopt it, provided there was an effective multilateral and verification system. It was, however, far from easy, because a system of that kind would go beyond the framework of the verification

procedures provided for in the Treaty in its present form, the régime of territorial waters, and still more the régime of internal waters, because they were markedly different from the régime of the high seas. It would therefore be desirable if the advocates of that idea could make clearer their position on monitoring problems. In that connection, it would be useful to study the ideas advanced on other disarmament issues, in particular the idea of the mandatory inspection on demand, formulated within the framework of the INF Treaty and the negotiations for a convention banning chemical weapons.

In short, the Soviet Union had no objection to the Conference on Disarmament establishing a special group of experts to study technical developments affecting the Treaty and, if need be, any questions regarding compliance with its provisions.

The Soviet Union would work for the adoption of further measures to prevent the arms race on the sea-bed and ocean floor and the subsoil thereof, but it called for strict observance of provisions of the Treaty in all its aspects and repudiated any attempt to place a restrictive interpretation on some of its provisions such as article III, paragraph 1, because such interpretations would be completely unjustified.

The meeting rose at 12 noon

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.5 2 October 1989

Original: ENGLISH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 5th MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Thursday, 21 September 1989, at 3 p.m.

President:

Mr. DUARTE

(Brazil)

CONTENTS

Election of Vice-Presidents (continued)

Credentials of representatives to the Conference:

(a) Appointment of the Credentials Committee

Review of the Operation of the Treaty as provided for in its Article VII

A. General debate (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the record of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 3.25 p.m.

ELECTION OF VICE-PRESIDENTS (agenda item 5) (continued)

- 1. The PRESIDENT said that, as a result of consultations, the following States were to be nominated for the remaining posts of Vice-President of the Conference: from Africa, Ethiopia; and from Asia, Jordan. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference wished to elect representatives of those countries as Vice-Presidents of the Conference by acclamation.
- 2. It was so decided.

CREDENTIALS OF REPRESENTATIVES TO THE CONFERENCE:

- (a) APPOINTMENT OF THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE (agenda item 6 (a))
- 3. The PRESIDENT said that, under rule 3 of the rules of procedure, in addition to the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Credentials Committee, elected the previous day, the Conference was to appoint five more members of the Credentials Committee on the proposals of the President. Further to consultations, he wished to propose that representatives of the following States be appointed to the Credentials Committee: Austria, Cyprus, Czechoslovakia and Mexico. One more member remained to be appointed. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the representatives of the countries mentioned were appointed by acclamation.
- 4. It was so decided.
- 5. The PRESIDENT said that, under rule 3 of the rules of procedure, the Credentials Committee should examine the credentials of representatives and report to the Conference without delay. He would again urge delegations which had not yet done so to present their credentials to the Secretary-General of the Conference, so that the Committee could proceed with its work.

REVIEW OF THE OPERATION OF THE TREATY AS PROVIDED FOR IN ITS ARTICLE VII

- A. GENERAL DEBATE (agenda item 11 A) (continued)
- 6. Mr. GROSSI (Argentina) said that any review of the operation of a multilateral agreement on disarmament such as the Sea-Bed Treaty required from those involved a clear decision to carry out a thoroughgoing examination of the terms of the agreement, scrutinizing the agreement in the light of developments in military technology which had occurred since the previous comprehensive review.
- 7. It was not superfluous to point out that only nuclear-weapon States were in a position to violate the provisions of an agreement prohibiting the emplacement of such weapons on the sea-bed and the ocean floor, and that they were largely the States which possessed the technological means of under-sea verification needed to detect a violation of the terms of the Treaty. For that reason, his country had welcomed with keen interest the information the Depositary States had made available as a contribution to the preparation of the Review Conference. However, his delegation felt obliged to reiterate the view, expressed by many other delegations on earlier occasions, that the

scantiness and brevity of the information provided was such that it did not offer a satisfactory basis for establishing beyond doubt, firstly, whether violations of the Treaty's provisions had taken place, and secondly, that no technical advances had been made which might affect, in whole or in part, the proper operation of the Treaty. In that respect, major developments had been noted with regard to underwater vehicles, whose fixed or mobile character was not easy to determine. From that fact it was clear that new elements had emerged and their real significance for the purposes of the Treaty should be carefully examined.

- At the same time, to take a positive view, it should be pointed out that new and more precise means made for more exact and effective verfication. Hence, at an informal meeting of the Conference on Disarmament his delegation had called for the establishment of a formal framework within which such facts could be channelled and evaluated through an independent, comprehensive and soundly-based procedure which would maintain the credibility of the Treaty. It had suggested the setting up of an ad hoc group of experts whose task would be to obtain and analyse all the available information relevant to the operation of the Treaty from official, business and any other sources. Otherwise, review conferences such as the present one would become no more than a superficial exercise, in which some parties expressed satisfaction with the operation of the agreement, while the majority still lacked even a minimum basis for forming any valid judgement on the degree to which the Treaty was being complied with. His delegation believed that there would be no insuperable difficulties in setting up such an expert group, which could be an ad hoc body, thereby avoiding the need for any administrative machinery or making any substantial allocations of resources.
- 9. Another question his delegation had deemed it appropriate to raise at the informal meeting of the Conference on Disarmament was the question of verification procedures under the Treaty. In his opinion, the provisions contained in paragraph 5 of article III had not been properly thought out. If it was assumed as all the evidence indicated that the majority of the States Parties lacked the technological expertise to verify whether the nuclear Powers strictly abided by the Treaty, it followed that it was essential to devise proper mechanisms for co-operation within the framework of the United Nations system to ensure compliance with that important provision. Such a step was essential in order to strengthen the Treaty's credibility, at least while the negotiations in good faith concerning further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, referred to in article V, remained a commitment that was as yet unfulfilled by all the States Parties.
- 10. His delegation considered those points of some relevance in that, as he had already stated, it did not share the apparently unanimous opinion that the Treaty was operating impeccably. Although it was true that there had been no communications from any States indicating possible violations, it was still a valid argument that no international methods of verification had been developed which would turn that assumption into a proven fact. If that was a basic principle in any agreement on disarmament and arms limitation, it was all the more essential a principle when the object of the ban was the most dangerous type of weapons in the world, namely nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction.

- 11. Another matter calling for careful examination was that of conventional weapons. Article I of the Treaty referred to structures, installations or other facilities "specifically" designed for storing, testing or using nuclear weapons, but the word "specifically" was not the same as "exclusively". Structures initially designed to support conventional weapons systems could well be converted to use for nuclear systems. That point was of particular relevance so far as laying mines on the sea-bed was concerned.
- In addition, the question of nuclear submarine strategy presented some highly disquieting aspects, in view of the decision to make no distinction between submarines carrying nuclear weapons and submarines carrying conventional weapons. That inherent ambiguity in regard to anti-submarine warfare led to the conclusion that submarines carrying nuclear weapons could well be targets for both nuclear and conventional weapons, so that dual-purpose underwater installations - installations that could be converted to use either nuclear or conventional weapons - would take on a predominant role, and call into question the validity of the agreement on the denuclearization of the sea-bed as signed in 1971. Developments in the naval arms race, notably those in the area of submarine warfare, closely concerned the provisions of the Treaty, and gave little grounds for optimism. accordingly all the more vital to establish effective systems of verification, something which should not pose any insuperable technical problems in the light of recent advances in both manned and non-manned underwater vehicles and other types of remote detection systems capable of ensuring compliance with any further restrictions which might be agreed on.
- 13. Regarding possible further extension of the geographical area covered by the Treaty, he could only reiterate that, although it shared the desire to see the Treaty's scope extended as far as possible, Argentina adhered strictly to the provisions of article IV, and considered that the question of prevention of the arms race on the sea-bed and the ocean floor should not in any way affect or influence the rights of States under the law of the sea.
- 14. The points he had mentioned should be the focus of attention on the part of the international community if an effective régime for the protection of the sea-bed was to be developed. If that was done, the Treaty could become a far more significant instrument for achieving disarmament than had proved to be the case hitherto. Today, the seas and oceans presented a far from encouraging picture as far as armaments reduction both on and below the surface was concerned. There was evidence of a marked imbalance between negotiations on disarmament and arms limitation in regard to land forces, and negotiations on disarmament in other areas, such as the sea and outer space. Unfortunately, there was still support for a belief in uncontrolled accumulation of new systems of armaments as guarantees of a strategic balance which created more insecurities than those it claimed to remove.
- 15. He hoped that, the next time States Parties met to review the Treaty, they would assess the situation fully and systematically, avoiding a superficial approach which might suggest a wish to avoid a frank and open debate on matters which were of equal concern to the security of all.
- 16. Mr. HARKONEN (Finland) said that the conclusion of the Sea-Bed Treaty had been prompted by the efforts of the international community to prevent the militarization of the sea-bed. In his delegation's view, in the years since the Second Review Conference in 1983 the Treaty had continued adequately to

fulfil its objectives. Nor had any new developments emerged which would give rise to concern or cause the validity of the Treaty to be called into question. Indeed, discussion had mainly centred on themes which had already been discussed at the previous Review Conference.

- 17. A preambular paragraph of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference affirmed that nothing contained in the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea affected the rights and obligations assumed by States Parties under the Treaty. The form of language chosen appeared to reflect the fact that not all States were in agreement with the general view about the impact the then new Convention on the Law of the Sea had on the provisions of the Sea-Bed Treaty. The same disagreement was evident in the reservations made by a number of States upon signing or ratifying the Sea-Bed Treaty.
- 18. His delegation would hope that a general agreement could be reached on issues such as the status with respect to the Treaty, of the continental shelf and the economic zone, as well as the territorial sea of archipelago States, in particular for the purposes of the future entry into force of the Convention on the Law of the Sea. For his part, he was in principle in agreement with the statement he had quoted from in the preamble of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference.
- 19. An exchange of views concerning the scope of the Treaty had continued, reflecting the fact that many States Parties would have preferred a wider scope of application right from the start. His country was willing to consider proposals related to the geographical extent of the Treaty if that was deemed necessary by other States Parties.
- One important task for the Conference was to evaluate whether developments in underwater technology had a bearing on matters related to the Treaty. In that respect, it was possible to conclude that future development might make an increasing military use of the sea-bed technically feasible. New technology and special materials might allow military applications which had previously been considered either beyond technical limits or simply too expensive. On the other hand, since the Second Review Conference considerable progress had been made in deep-sea research vehicles for oceanology. Finland was one of the countries where such research technology was at an advanced stage, and a Finnish company had developed deep-sea research vehicles and delivered them on a commercial basis. Technical information concerning those vehicles was in the public domain. Although experience in that field was still lacking, deep-sea research technology could in some circumstances prove suitable for verification purposes. Verification in general might be an area which deserved future attention, although there seemed to be no pressing need for new measures at the present time, since the existing verification procedures under article III of the Treaty had not been invoked.
- 21. The effectiveness of the Sea-Bed Treaty would be further enhanced if adherence to it were more universal. In welcoming the new States Parties that had joined since the Second Review Conference, his delegation considered that the Conference should also discuss the reasons for not acceding to it and should encourage further signatures and ratifications.
- 22. Mr. GOKCE (Turkey) said that the Review Conference was meeting at a time when the disarmament process had gained considerable momentum, and when its agenda offered new opportunities and challenges of global importance. In the

long chain of multilateral and bilateral arms control agreements, the Sea-Bed Treaty constituted a significant link, in that it aimed to prevent an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. Although partial in scope, it was none the less a major arms control measure.

- 23. The first question the Review Conference must ask itself was whether the Sea-Bed Treaty had in practice lived up to its objectives. Had it actually succeeded in keeping the sea-bed and the ocean floor free of nuclear and other weapons of mass destruction? The answer lay in the fact that no State Party had found it necessary to invoke the provisions of the Treaty on international complaints and verification procedures, that no violation of the Treaty had been reported during the period under review, that there had been no withdrawals from the Treaty, and, finally, that there had been further accessions to it. It could thus be concluded that the Treaty had been faithfully observed and had lived up to expectations.
- 24. The Depositary States had not identified any technological developments since the Second Review Conference that would have a bearing on the operation and implementation of the Treaty and warrant changes in its provisions. Those States had provided the Conference with information related to the latest advances in deep-water exploration and exploitation technology, which indicated that more effective verification, facilitated by technological developments, would have a deterrent effect on any potential intention of replacing or implanting weapons on the sea-bed. Moreover, improved technology would cut down the advantages of fixed weapons systems over mobile ones, thereby creating yet another disincentive. It might logically be argued whether or not an inverse relationship existed between the technological advances made in the course of peaceful scientific uses and incentives to emplace nuclear and other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed.
- 25. His country saw no compelling need to make changes in the weapons scope of the Treaty, which covered nuclear and other weapons of mass destruction, including chemical, biological and radiological weapons. However, it would be willing to give favourable consideration to any proposal, provided the proposal would contribute to international peace and security. On the other hand, any change with regard to geographical scope should be consistent with the objectives of the Treaty. The Treaty's underlying purpose was to demilitarize the sea-bed and the ocean floor to the extent practicable, without diminishing any State Party's national security. He would therefore take a positive view of any proposal to extend the geographical scope as long as it was compatible with that goal. When the Conference addressed the issue of how further steps aimed at preventing an arms race on the sea-bed could be initiated, the States Parties also had to take into account the feasibility of measures relating to verification.
- 26. His delegation wished to point out that it saw no linkage between the Sea-Bed Treaty and the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea. The zone referred to in articles I and II of the Treaty was a functional or operational one, and its limits were defined solely for the purposes of arms control. It in no way entailed any endorsement of relevant provisions of the 1958 Convention. In fact, accession to a Treaty which was concluded solely for disarmament purposes could not confer on the States Parties the right to militarize zones already demilitarized under other international treaties. Such an attempt would not only violate international law, but would also be contrary to the underlying objective of a disarmament treaty. It

should not be forgotten that the Sea-Bed Treaty was a multilateral disarmament agreement. The Conference's Final Document should note that the obligations assumed by the States Parties to the Treaty under other international instruments continued to apply.

- 27. His delegation felt bound to re-state those points, so that their meaning would be sufficiently clear to pre-empt any possibility of misinterpretation. It did not wish to see the difficulties with which the law of the sea conventions had to contend recurring in the text of the Sea-Bed Treaty. Lastly, he wished to add his delegation's support to the plea addressed to nuclear weapons States and States possessing weapons of mass destruction to accede to the Sea-Bed Treaty in order to secure universal application.
- 28. Mr. WAGENMAKERS (Netherlands) said the high seas had always had a special significance for seafaring nations like the Netherlands, and his Government would be awaiting with keen interest the outcome of the Third Review Conference.
- 29. The Treaty had proved successful in that until now no serious violation of its provisions had been registered. As part of a broader legal régime governing the use or non-use of the seas and oceans for military purposes, it represented an essential link in a chain, and it was in that light that the review of its application should be undertaken. The fact that there had been no major differences of opinion concerning execution of the Treaty was a good sign, and showed that it was serving its purpose.
- 30. One of the priority tasks of the Conference should be to decide on what steps to take to induce non-member countries to accede to the Treaty. Some States might question the military value of the Treaty régime in the light of advances in technology, and it could well be that that value was not the same today as it had been originally. Despite the Treaty's limited scope, however, it was still important for the maximum number of countries to accede to it. The Treaty's effect would be significantly enhanced if all the nuclear powers including specifically France and China were to sign and ratify it. Although that would not in itself alter the current situation, namely that there were no nuclear weapons on the sea—bed, it would help to close one of the loopholes in the régime, i.e. not all States which possessed nuclear weapons or weapons of mass destruction had yet signed a treaty covering such sophisticated forms of nuclear technology.
- 31. Since the Treaty had served its purpose well, its régime should remain intact. However, the Conference should not overlook the possibility that newly-emerged technologies might one day jeopardize the Treaty's operation, or even its integrity. While it was possible to dispute the relevance of a treaty banning developments that were inherently unlikely, it made good sense to nip in the bud the development of any potentially destabilizing military technologies. Such technologies could well come into use almost overnight, and members should be on their guard against any which might have an impact on the Treaty. While peaceful uses of the sea-bed for commercial purposes should not be hindered, it was always possible that they might be followed by less peaceful forms of exploitation.
- 32. Now that previously inconceivable advances were being achieved in arms control and arms reduction, he hoped that a consensus might emerge in favour of extending the zone of application of the Treaty to include territorial

waters. However, he doubted whether extending the Treaty's scope to weapons other than those listed under article I would be advisable, since it would require a major adjustment of the present verification provisions contained in article III, and he could not at the moment envisage how such an adjustment could be made in practical terms. In military terms, priority should be given to measures to cover underwater strategic weapons. In that connection, the bilateral START negotiations between the United States and the Soviet Union were of the highest importance: the reduction in sea-launched missiles envisaged under those negotiations would help to enhance strategic stability in conformity with the purposes of the Treaty.

- 33. He urged members to be realistic in deciding on the timing of the next Review Conference. If it should emerge that there had been almost no technological developments that affected application of the Treaty, it might not be essential to hold a fourth Review Conference in five or six years time. If it was decided to hold the next Review Conference after a minimum period of, say, 10 years, there would be nothing to prevent a review at an earlier date if strategic or technological developments so warranted. States might follow a procedure similar to that envisaged under article VIII of the Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques. The use of such a procedure would provide a certain measure of flexibility in fixing the date of the next Conference.
- 34. Mr. KOSTOV (Bulgaria) said that his delegation, as at the time of the Second Review Conference in 1983, once again had occasion to reaffirm the continuing importance of the Treaty for the international community of nations. It had proved to be an effective disarmament instrument, which had prevented an arms race involving the emplacement of nuclear or other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed or ocean floor. That preventive function had helped to maintain world peace, to reduce international tension, and to strengthen friendly relations among States, something that was clearly demonstrated by the fact that no State Party had proposed any amendment to the Treaty, nor had any State Party withdrawn from it. The steady increase in accessions to the Treaty was another illustration of the growing international commitment to the goal of securing universal adherence. Achievement of that goal would be a major contribution to the enhancement of international peace and security.
- 35. The Treaty also represented an advance in efforts to curb the naval arms race and to achieve a world free of nuclear weapons and the use of force, in which connection he shared the opinion expressed by the Swedish representative. Bulgaria's position was in full compliance with the commitment undertaken under article V, namely to continue negotiations concerning further disarmament measures for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof, with a view to complete demilitarization of that part of the maritime environment. Bulgaria also favoured negotiations on measures to cover the wider area of naval disarmament in general. The international community should begin to tackle that more ambitious task by working out appropriate confidence— and security—building measures.
- 36. It was gratifying to note that the current review was being held in a much more favourable international climate than had been the case in 1983. The atmosphere was one of dialogue and of mutual respect for the legitimate

security interests of nations, and collective action to eliminate international conflicts had proved successful. The process of true nuclear disarmament had begun, and important progress seemed to have been achieved at the Soviet/United States negotiations on a 50 per cent reduction in strategic weapons. A constructive spirit also prevailed at the Vienna talks, which might soon bear fruit in yet another series of measures to reduce conventional armed forces. The continuation of the current trend towards the creation of an atmosphere of mutual trust and complete absence of tension in international relations would undoubtedly favour progress towards the cessation of the arms race.

- 37. Bulgaria shared the view that States Parties still had a strong common interest in preventing an arms race on the sea-bed. His delegation wished to reaffirm Bulgaria's strong support for the continuing operation of the Treaty and its dedication to its principles and objectives. He welcomed the evidence that the obligations assumed under article I had been faithfully observed by States Parties. Compliance with that article would remain essential to the achievement of the common objective of avoidance of a nuclear arms race on the sea-bed.
- 38. Equally important was implementation of article II, which defined the Treaty's geographical scope. Interesting proposals had been made for the extension of that scope to cover the sea-bed environment "from shore to shore", thus including the territorial waters of States Parties. Such an extension could be a valuable contribution to implementation of article VI of the Non-Proliferation Treaty. On the other hand, many delegations were aware of the difficulties extension might involve. He suggested that an exchange of views on the availability and acceptability of methods of verification would be the best way of gaining support for the concept of extension: such an exchange of views could also take into account the fear that technological developments might one day pose a challenge to the smooth operation of the Treaty.
- 39. His delegation had studied with interest the highly informative and thought-provoking paper on article VII of the Treaty (SBT/CONF.III/4/Add.2). It showed that there had been a continuous improvement in technologies used for commercial purposes, technologies which could easily be employed for non-peaceful purposes. At the same time, improvements in methods for scanning the sea-bed, together with improved navigational techniques, had provided more accurate and less costly ways of scanning large underwater areas, which enhanced verification capabilities. Again, the communication by the Soviet Union (SBT/CONF.III/4) showed that effective technical facilities for monitoring compliance with the provisions of the Sea-Bed Treaty already existed. In the light of those considerations, any future advances in offshore and submarine technologies should be closely monitored. The Conference might also provide for a more organized system of assembling relevant information, with a view to enabling States Parties to take appropriate action should the need arise.
- 40. Lastly, since it could reasonably be assumed that it would still not be militarily advantageous to emplace nuclear or other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed or the ocean floor, he hoped that that understanding, which seemed to be widely shared, would enable the Conference to come to a successful end by adopting a substantive final document.

- 41. Mr. BAYART (Mongolia), said that, as the only multilateral treaty dealing exclusively with the prohibition of an arms race on the sea-bed and ocean floor and the subsoil thereof, the 1971 Treaty held a prominent place in efforts to prevent the arms race from spilling over into a new sector of the environment. As a preventive measure in arms limitation and disarmament, the Sea-Bed Treaty embodied the determination of States to exclude new areas from the arms race and keep them for peaceful uses for the benefit of all mankind. Since no occasion to invoke the complaints and verification provisions had arisen during the lifetime of the Treaty, there was every reason to rejoice in the evident fact that the obligations entered into under article I had been fully complied with. The Treaty's successful operation since its entry into force 17 years ago testified to its effectiveness and viability. However, that the Review Conference should not only reaffirm the Parties' undertaking to continue negotiations in accordance with article V but should also take certain steps towards that end.
- The need for a continuing review of major technological developments 42. which might affect the treaty provisions had been stressed as early as the First Review Conference, in 1977. The idea of setting up an ad hoc group of experts for that purpose had now emerged and his delegation was among those supporting it. Such a body would constitute an important instrument for enhancing the Treaty's effectiveness, not least because certain technological developments which could affect the operation of the Treaty might also offer new possibilities of verification. In that connection, the history of disarmament negotiations showed that, given the political will, verification problems could be resolved. For example, the Outer Space Treaty of 1967 had been signed at a time when neither side had been in possession of any real capability to verify it. Standards of contemporary international law governing the activities of States in the exploration and peaceful uses of outer space had emerged as the by-products of new technological developments. The same could be said of the law of the sea. Plainly, legal norms should not be allowed to lag behind or to be overtaken by new developments.
- 43. Both the 1967 Outer Space Treaty and 1971 Sea-Bed Treaty had prohibited the emplacement of nuclear and other weapons of mass destruction in the respective environment concerned. Nevertheless, the danger remained of the emergence of highly destructive conventional types of weapons not outlawed by those Treaties. As could be seen, in particular, from the communications from the Swedish Government (SBT/CONF.III/4/Add.2) and the Government of the USSR (SBT/CONF.III/4), there were indeed major technological developments that could have a direct bearing upon the Treaties' operation:
- 44. Noting the interest of all States, and especially of developing countries, in the progress of the exploration and use of the sea-bed and the ocean floor and its resources for peaceful purposes and the emphasis they placed upon the prevention of an arms race and the complete demilitarization of that area, he pointed out that fuller implementation of article V would increase the Treaty's value as an effective preventive instrument, especially in the light of the growing significance of naval disarmament issues. In that context, it was regrettable that the implementation of important provisions of key agreements in the disarmament field concerning the continuance of negotiations in good faith on further measures had remained far from satisfactory.

- 45. His delegation shared the view that universal adherence to the Treaty would enhance international security and confidence. For that reason, while whole-heartedly welcoming the fact that a number of States had acceded to the Treaty since the Second Review Conference, he wished to join in the appeal addressed to States which had not yet become parties to the Treaty, including in particular two nuclear-weapon States, to do so at the earliest possible date. He also wished to call on the Depositary Governments and the Secretary-General to step up, through appropriate channels, promotional and information activities in favour of the Treaty.
- 46. Mr. KOSIN (Yugoslavia) noted that significant events taking place in the six years since the Second Review Conference had established new positive trends in international relations. In a number of instances, conflicts and hostilities were giving way to negotiations, understanding and co-operation. Conditions today were more favourable to disarmament. The Ninth Summit Meeting of Heads of State or Government of the Non-Aligned Countries, held earlier that month in Belgrade, had emphasized the positive new international climate and the improved disarmament prospects.
- 47. The Sea-Bed Treaty, an important international instrument designed to preserve a vast part of the Earth's surface from the arms race, had survived periods of acute crisis in relations between the super-Powers and the military alliances. The number of States Parties, including signatory States which had not yet ratified the Treaty, had increased to over a 100 and the growing number of non-aligned States with observer status also reflected the Treaty's ever-increasing importance. He urged all States, and in particular the two nuclear power States, which had not yet done so, to accede to the Treaty at the earliest possible date.
- 48. In the period between the two Review Conferences, the Treaty had been strengthened by new instruments such as the Rarotonga Treaty and the Convention on the Law of the Sea. The fact that no complaint of violation of the Treaty had been submitted and no country had withdrawn from the Treaty proved that it was being satisfactorily implemented. Obviously, the Treaty's merits could be evaluated only in the context of the promotion of international relations as a whole and, in particular, of those in the field of international security and disarmament. The Treaty called not only for the establishment of more effective international control but also further disarmament negotiations. Moreover, positive development of international relations was a pre-condition for full and effective implementation of the Treaty's verification provisions.
- 49. No information concerning major new technological developments had been presented at the Second Review Conference, and the new generations of nuclear submarines and nuclear arms systems which had been created during the intervening period had considerably strained the naval arms race, which was an important component of the arms race as a whole. The Treaty therefore had to be viewed in the broader context of reduction or elimination of nuclear arsenals and other weapons of mass destruction. The problem of emplacing nuclear, chemical and biological waste and agents on the sea-bed and ocean floor also gave rise to serious environmental considerations.
- 50. The Secretary-General's role in gathering information on the implementation of the Treaty and especially from the Depositary States on military and technological developments relevant to the observance of the

Treaty was clearly a significant one. Bearing in mind that only a few States Parties had at present the necessary technical knowledge and means of ascertaining violations of the Treaty, and that the other States Parties could be certain of any violations only on the basis of full and reliable information, his delegation supported the idea that such information should be considered by a qualified group of experts. Such a mechanism might also facilitate the implementation of the provisions of article V, which, like the verification provisions in article III, pointed to the central role and primary responsiblity of the United Nations in the field of disarmament.

- 51. Noting with concern that obligations under article V were not yet being honoured in practice, he urged that the negotiations provided for in that article should be instituted as soon as possible within the Conference on Disarmament or in any other appropriate forum. Yugoslavia was strongly interested in the Treaty's full implementation, not only as a maritime country but also as a Mediterranean State which regarded the Treaty as a significant contribution to efforts for the transformation of the Mediterranean region into a region of peace, security and co-operation.
- 52. Mr. VARGAS (Nicaragua) said that the Treaty, although limited in scope, represented a step towards the achievement of general and complete disarmament. The incalculable destructive power of nuclear weapons made it imperative for legal provisions in the military sphere to be strictly observed in practice if the survival of mankind was to be assured. The terrible effects of nuclear weapons affected military forces and the civilian population alike. In his delegation's view, the scope of the Treaty's application should be expanded, in terms of geography, i.e. an extension of the 12-mile limit, the types of weapons covered, as well as the matter of verification. In any event, the Swedish proposal for the establishment of an ad hoc group of experts to keep major technological developments which could affect the Treaty's operation under review deserved serious and objective consideration.
- 53. Noting with satisfaction that no State Party had found it necessary to exercise its right of withdrawal under article VIII, he appealed to States which had not yet done so, and especially to those in possession of nuclear weapons as well as to the sister nations of Central America, to accede to the Treaty as soon as possible with a view to the promotion and strengthening of peace. Lastly, he stressed that his Government favoured the complete denuclearization of the sea-bed and of outer space and looked forward to complete nuclear disarmament, a substantial reduction in conventional armaments, and the transfer of resources released by disarmament to the peaceful development of peoples. It should not be forgotten that, so long as nuclear weapons existed, so did the temptation to use them.

The meeting rose at 4.45 p.m.

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.6 12 October 1989

ENGLISH Original: FRENCH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 6th MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Tuesday, 22 September 1989, at 10 a.m.

President:

Mr. HUSLID

(Norway)

CONTENTS

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII:

A. General debate (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m.

REVIEW OF THE OPERATION OF THE TREATY AS PROVIDED FOR IN ITS ARTICLE VII:

A. GENERAL DEBATE (agenda item 11A) (continued)

Mr. TOWPIK (Poland) said that the Treaty had continued to realize its main objective: the prohibition contained in article I had been steadfastly observed. No violation of the Treaty had been reported, no major disputes related to its implementation had been registered, its provisions on international complaints and verification had not been invoked, and no country had withdrawn from the Treaty. More States had also become parties to the Treaty, thereby enhancing its universal significance. There were, however, some negative elements: the provisions of article V remained in the sphere of noble goals and a large number of countries, including two nuclear Powers, were still not parties to the Treaty.

Nevertheless, the Sea-Bed Treaty had become a key element of international law governing the peaceful uses of the seas and oceans and it had made a major contribution to preventing the nuclear arms race from spreading to that area of human activity. In common with the Antarctic Treaty, the Treaty for the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons in Latin America and the Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques, the Sea-Bed Treaty had shown the value of preventive measures applied to geographical areas or specific spheres, and that positive appraisal should add an additional stimulus to on-going negotiations aimed at preventing the arms race from spreading to other new fields of human activity.

As to technical developments relevant to the Treaty, the international community could be fully informed in that respect only if there was transparency and openness in the corresponding fields. Information submitted by the Depositary Governments and by Sweden indicated that the progress in underwater technology had made the sea-bed and the ocean floor more accessible but did not appear to have directly affected the operation of the Treaty. Furthermore, the potential for effective verification of the Treaty had improved. Consequently, there did not seem to be any imminent threat of a breach of the aims of the Treaty, although it was important for further technological developments to be followed closely.

The follow-up to the Conference still had to be decided, and he was open-minded on that matter. Delegations seemed to have no doubts about the desirability of a further review conference, for such conferences were a valuable additional tool for verifying the implementation of the Treaty provisions. As far as the institutional framework for monitoring technological developments was concerned, the establishment of a group of experts within the framework of the Conference on Disarmament had been proposed, as well as the appointment of an internationally respected expertion other words a "special rapporteur" - entrusted with the task of gathering detailed data on specific technologies and related trends for the States Parties. Those ideas were worthy of note, although they should be studied carefully. After all, technological information was becoming more readily available, and it would perhaps also be possible to make use of existing bodies, such as the United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research, to gather the required information.

As regards the implementation of article V, Poland had always adopted the view that the Treaty was but a starting point for the complete demilitarization of the sea-bed and ocean floor, and it remained convinced of the need to pursue that ultimate objective, even though a definition of the scope of possible new prohibitions and verification of their observance constituted a complex task. Whatever was decided in that connections, the Conference should at least appeal to all States to refrain from any action that might lead to the extension of the arms race to the sea-bed and the ocean floor.

Poland was deeply convinced that States would consolidate the Sea-Bed Treaty in the future, not only by continued faithful observance of its provisions but also by additional disarmament and arms control measures. The substantial reduction of strategic weapons currently being negotiated by the Soviet Union and the United States was of particular importance in that respect.

Mr. MARTYNOV (Byelorussian Soviet Socialist Republic), referring to the preamble of the Treaty, said that the instrument was of two-fold importance - as a measure designed to exclude the arms race from a specific sphere of human activity, and as an essential piece in the mosaic of agreements that would one day lead to general and complete disarmament.

Further elements had been incorporated into that mosaic during the period under review. The new climate that characterized international relations had made possible, inter alia, the conclusion of the Treaty between the Soviet Union and the United States on the Elimination of Intermediate-Range and Short-Range Missiles, the adoption of the Final Stockholm Document of the Conference on Confidence - and Security-Building Measures and Disarmament in Europe and the opening of the Vienna negotiations on the limitation of conventional armed forces and weapons. The international community could henceforth prepare to broaden the scope of disarmament and take further initiatives, and it should above all ensure that the trend became irreversible.

In the same connection, it was vital, to consolidate the system brought into being by the Treaty and to agree on provisions aimed at preventing the arms race on the sea-bed and ocean floor, so as to facilitate the limitation of weapons deployed in the seas and oceans.

As far as the operation of the Treaty was concerned, it was reassuring to see that all the States Parties appeared to have scrupulously carried out their undertakings, and above all the obligations set out in paragraphs 1 and 3 of article I. Thus, for a period of nearly 20 years, the Treaty had effectively prevented the emplacement of weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed and the ocean floor — which covered some two thirds of the planet — thereby providing mankind with an opportunity to exploit the enormous wealth contained in their subsoil in complete security. It could be inferred that the Treaty contributed to the maintenance of peace and security and curbed the geographical proliferation of nuclear and other weapons.

The slow but sure increase in the number of States Parties bore witness to the increasing authority of the Treaty. However, an instrument of such

scope should be universal, and the Conference should, in its final document, appeal to all States, and in particular to the nuclear Powers, to accede to the Treaty without further delay.

The Byelorussian Soviet Socialist Republic was convinced of the need to strive fully to demilitarize the sea-bed and the ocean floor. Such had been the aim of the first draft treaty which the Soviet Union had submitted to the Conference of the Eighteen-Nation Committee on Disarmament in 1969. Subsequently, in the Committee the socialist countries had frequently raised the issue of the negotiations provided for under article V. It was the duty of the present Review Conference to revive the issue. The Soviet Union had once again declared that it was prepared to initiate negotiations for the purpose of prohibiting, under effective control, any military bases, structures or other installations on the sea-bed.

Others had proposed that the scope of application of the Treaty should be extended to territorial waters. Provided it met with acceptance by States, the idea could in due course be incorporated into a protocol or amendment to the Treaty, which would also settle the problem of verification. It had also been suggested that the collection and analysis of information on technical developments relevant to the Treaty should be institutionalized. All those ideas deserved examination.

The information submitted by the Depositary Governments and by Sweden indicated that recent or forthcoming technical developments were equally capable of furthering or subverting the objectives of the Treaty. Consequently, it would remain a valuable instrument in the immediate future.

In the Conference's final document, which could take the form of a declaration, as in the case of the first two Review Conferences, it would be advisable to stress the significance and effectiveness of the Treaty, to underscore the observance of the commitments made by States Parties, but also to urge other States to join them, and to indicate what new measures could be negotiated pursuant to article V for the prevention of an arms race, of any kind, on the sea-bed and the ocean floor.

Mr. KHERAD (Afghanistan) said he hoped that the Third Review Conference would make a significant contribution to the effectiveness of the Treaty, thereby serving the cause of international détente, in which the decisive stages were arms limitation and disarmament, and above all an end to the nuclear-weapons race.

His delegation attached great importance to any practical and specific measures and proposals capable of halting, and ultimately ending, the arms race and beginning the process of disarmament. The Republic of Afghanistan had signed and ratified the Treaty as it considered that by preventing the proliferation of nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction throughout a large part of the globe, the Treaty would contribute towards general and complete disarmament. The sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof beyond the limits of national jurisdiction, were part of the common hertiage of mankind and should be used exclusively for peaceful purposes. For that reason, he supported any initiative aimed at preventing the arms race in those areas, and consequently at facilitating the exploration and exploitation of their resources by all countries.

The Treaty, which had been in force for 17 years, had unquestionably operated effectively and the Conference could take satisfaction in the fact that no violation of the provisions of the Treaty had been observed by the States Parties. It was also gratifying that the terms of article VIII, which gave States Parties the right to withdraw from the Treaty, had never been invoked.

Under article I, the Treaty instituted a régime for the non-nuclearization and demilitarization of the sea-bed and ocean floor that was applicable, pursuant to article II, to the area beyond the 12 mile limit under the national jurisdiction of coastal States. However, the Treaty was not in itself the final objective: it was merely a step towards the complete prohibition of the use of the sea-bed for military purposes. That ultimate goal had not been ruled out by the States Parties, as it was clearly expressed in article V, which provided for the continuation of negotiations in good faith concerning further measures in the field of disarmament for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof. Consequently, it was essential for article V to be implemented.

His delegation stood ready to consider any constructive 'proposal concerning the organization of a further review conference.

Mr. COUNTINIOTIS (Greece) said that his country was satisfied with the operation of the Sea-Bed Treaty and took note of the fact that no violation had been observed. It also understood that no need had arisen to apply the verification procedure referred to in article III, and, while it realized that attention should be paid to the technical progress made since the previous Review Conference, it did not consider that those developments called for any amendment to the Treaty.

Greece considered that the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea did not affect the rights and obligations set out in the Treaty. Furthermore, article II of the Treaty was in accordance with article 3 of the Convention, which stipulated the right of every State to establish the breadth of its territorial sea up to a limit not exceeding 12 nautical miles.

With reference to articles I and II of the Treaty, his delegation requested that the following declaration should be reproduced in the final document of the Third Review Conference: "Nothing in these articles can be interpreted as prejudicing, in any way, the sovereign rights of the coastal State over its continental shelf, as it is determined in International Positive Law and International Practice. Consequently, we take it that no provision of the Sea-Bed Treaty can be interpreted as indicating that any State has the right to emplace nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction in the gap-zone, between the outer limit of the territorial sea of a coastal State and the 12 nautical miles, in case the territorial sea of the State is less than 12 nautical miles. We also consider that no provision of the Sea-Bed Treaty can be interpreted as giving the right to any State to emplace conventional weapons on the continental shelf of a coastal State. Such activities could be conducted only with the express consent of and under the conditions set forth by the coasal State. Consequently, Greece reserves the right to verify, inspect, remove or destroy any form of the above-mentioned weapons, structures, installations, facilities, or equipment emplaced on the Greek Continental shelf in the South Adriatic, Ionian Sea, Aegean Sea and Mediterranean Sea. As far as the military use of a coastal

State's demilitarized zones by international treaties is concerned, we understand that such use can be made by the coastal State and be legitimate for purposes of self-defence. We consider that nothing in international law or in any treaty can curtail the right of self-defence in any way, a right which is confirmed by the Charter of the United Nations. Moreover, it is the understanding of this delegation that the observation which is referred to in paragraph 6 of article III of the Sea-Bed Treaty shall be conducted with due regard to the rights recognized by international law, including the freedoms of the high seas and the jurisdiction and sovereign rights of the coastal State, regarding the conduct of marine research and activities, in connection with the exploration and exploitation of its continental shelf, as it is determined in international Positive Law and international practice".

Lastly, he appealed to all States that were not parties to the Treaty, and particularly those nuclear-weapon States, to accede to it.

The meeting rose at 11.10 a.m.

Distr. RESTRICTED

SBT/CONF.III/SR.7 24 October 1989

ENGLISH

Original: FRENCH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 7th MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Monday, 25 September 1989, at 10.30 a.m.

President:

Mr. DUARTE

(Brazil)

CONTENTS

Review of the Operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VII

- B. Articles I-XI
- C. Preambular paragraphs and purposes of the Treaty

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 10.45 a.m.

REVIEW OF THE OPERATION OF THE TREATY AS PROVIDED FOR IN ITS ARTICLE VII (agenda item 11) (continued)

B. ARTICLES I-XI

1. The PRESIDENT said he welcomed the positive spirit in which the general debate had been held and suggested that delegations should take the text of the Final Declaration of the 1983 Review Conference (SBT/CONF.III/3, annex III) as a basis for preparing the final declaration of the Third Conference. It would be remembered that, under the rules of procedure, a preliminary text was to be formulated and then referred to the Drafting Committee.

Article I

- 2. <u>The PRESIDENT</u> said that, if he heard no objection, he would take it that the text of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference should be referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 3. It was so decided.

<u>Article II</u>

- Mr. OZER (Turkey), introducing his country's proposals as contained in document SBT/CONF.III/10, said that the Sea-Bed Treaty had borrowed from the 1958 Geneva Convention the notion of a 12-mile contiguous zone to determine the limit of the sea-bed zone for the purposes of the application of the Treaty. However, since the zone defined in articles I and II of the Treaty was of a functional and operational nature, its adoption did not entail acceptance of the corresponding provisions of the 1958 Convention. He therefore proposed that the passage concerning article II in the Conference's final document should read: "The Conference reaffirms its support for the provisions of article II which define the zone covered by the Treaty. The zone defined therein is a functional and operational one set forth solely for arms control purposes. Therefore, no provisions of article II could be used in support of the claims of a State Party other than the rights and obligations related to disarmament. The Conference agrees that the zone covered by the Treaty reflects the right balance between the need to prevent an arms race in nuclear weapons and any other types of weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed and the right of States to control verification activities close to their own coasts".
- 5. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) rejected the amendments proposed in document SBT/CONF.III/10 as contrary to customary international law and, in particular, to a rule of international law that had been adopted by almost all the coastal States. Moreover, the proposed amendments had political overtones that were inconsistent with the technical nature of the Conference and alien to the purpose of the Treaty; their only effect would be to give rise to further amendments.
- 6. Mr. BIRBAUM (Austria) pointed out that the nuclear-weapon States participating in the Conference had affirmed that they had not emplaced nuclear weapons in their territorial waters and did not intend to do so. The

final declaration should mention that affirmation. He therefore proposed that the following text should be added at the end of the passage relating to article II: "The Conference notes that the nuclear-weapon States Parties to the Treaty have stated that they have not emplaced nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed of their territorial waters and have no intention to do so".

- 7. Mr. CLINARD (United States of America) said that the disadvantage of the proposal by the representative of Austria was that it referred only to the nuclear-weapon States, whereas the Treaty applied to all weapons of mass destruction.
- 8. Ms. COURTNEY (Australia) said she supported the Austrian proposal, yet endorsing the comment by the representative of the United States. The Conference should agree on a text that reconciled the two positions. Moreover several delegations, including her own, had referred to the possible relationship between the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea and the Treaty and she expressed the hope that the final declaration would mention that matter in regard to the zones to which the Treaty applied under article II.
- 9. Mr. SALANDER (Sweden) said that, with regard to article II of the Treaty, the Final Declaration should indicate that many delegations had proposed that the geographical scope of the Treaty should be expanded, even though the debate on that question had been inconclusive.
- 10. The PRESIDENT said that the purpose of the final declaration of the Conference was to reflect the overall comments of the States Parties on each article of the Treaty. While he understood the point of view of the representative of Sweden concerning the comments made by delegations on an individual or joint basis, he thought that a distinction should be drawn, in the final document, between an expression of the opinion of the States Parties as a whole and a summary of the views of delegations.
- 11. Mr. BERDENNIKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) said that the President's comment, which he endorsed, also applied to the statement by the representative of Austria.
- 12. Mr. LUDEKING (Federal Republic of Germany), referring to the comment by the representative of Australia, said that the relationship between the Treaty and the Convention on the Law of the Sea was complex and he therefore reserved his position regarding the proposed amendments, the purpose of which did not seem entirely clear.
- 13. The PRESIDENT said that, with regard to article II of the Treaty, the Conference had before it two sets of proposals. One of them, based on the Turkish proposal, concerned the relationship between the Treaty and the Convention on the Law of the Sea, particularly the interpretation of the purpose of the zone created under the Treaty. In that connection, he proposed to enter into consultations with the delegations that had submitted proposals and those that had commented on them, so as to formulate a text that reflected the various views.

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part III page 80

- 14. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) said he failed to see how it was possible to discuss matters that were contrary to customary law and international practice.
- 15. The PRESIDENT said that it was not unlikely that the consultations would lead simply to confirmation of the text of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference concerning article II.
- 16. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) said that he had made no proposal and would have no objection if the text of the 1983 Final Declaration, concerning article II, remained unchanged.
- 17. The PRESIDENT said that the other proposal, made by Austria, had also elicited various comments by delegations and he requested the delegations concerned to draft, in collaboration with the Austrian delegation, a text for submission at the next meeting of the Conference.
- 18. Mr. BIRBAUM (Austria) said that his country's proposal was very simple and straightforward and sought merely to incorporate in the Conference's final declaration an affirmation that had been made during the general debate, so that the declaration would be as informative as possible, not only for the States Parties but also for those that had not attended the debate. Since the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons made special provision for the nuclear-weapon States, he felt that that distinction, relating to the scope of article II of the Treaty, should be noted in the final declaration. However, he would endeavour to meet with the other delegations concerned, even though he would have preferred a more extensive exchange of views in plenary.

Article IV

19. Mr. OZER (Turkey), continuing his introduction of his country's proposals (SBT/CONF.III/10), indicated that the purpose of the Sea-Bed Treaty was to prevent an arms race in nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and the subsoil thereof, a stage that should lead to general disarmament. Accordingly, any change in the scope of the Treaty should be consistent with that fundamental purpose. Any other interpretation restricting the Treaty's geographical scope would run counter to its raison d'être. Moreover, it would be inconceivable for a treaty formulated for disarmament purposes to confer the right to militarize zones that had already been demilitarized under other international treaties. Turkey therefore proposed that the part of the final declaration concerning article IV should read: "The Conference notes the importance of article IV which provides that nothing in this Treaty shall be interpreted as supporting or prejudicing the position of any State Party with respect to existing international conventions, including the 1958 Convention on the Territorial Sea and Contiguous Zone, or with respect to rights or claims which such State Party may assert, or with respect to recognition or non-recognition of rights or claims asserted by any other State, related to waters off its coast, including, inter alia, territorial seas and contiguous zones, or to the sea-bed and the ocean floor, including continental shelves. The Conference also reaffirmed that obligations assumed by State Parties to the Treaty arising from other international instruments, inter alia, the obligations

related to the territories under demilitarized status, continue to apply. No provision in this Treaty, which was done for disarmament purposes, confers on the States Parties the right to militarize the zones demilitarized by other international treaties".

20. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) said that the right of coastal States to use demilitarized zones for the purposes of self-defence was an inalienable right in that it was proclaimed in the Charter of the United Nations.

Article V

- 21. Mr. SALANDER (Sweden) said that he would be expressing reservations in the Drafting Committee on some interpretations of "further measures in the field of disarmament", more particularly by the delegation of the United States of America.
- 22. Mr. CLINARD (United States of America) said that the measures aimed at preventing an arms race on the sea-bed should not be regarded as restrictive, since they could well apply to chemical weapons and, of course, strategic nuclear weapons. His delegation would be raising that question again in the Drafting Committee.

Article VII

- 23. Mr. SALANDER (Sweden), introducing document SBT/CONF.III/8, which had been prepared by his country, said experience had shown that the information on technological developments that had been presented to Review Conferences was very general. In document SBT/CONF.III/4/Add.2, Sweden had endeavoured to remedy that shortcoming by describing a number of technologies that might be of interest in that field. Failing an overview of the most recent technology, it would be difficult to assess the operation of the Treaty, particularly since some underwater technologies could also have military applications.
- 24. Sweden's proposal for inclusion in the final declaration (SBT/CONF.III/8) was fairly flexible on the question of experts, although a geographically balanced group of five experts seemed to be an appropriate solution. If the Conference took a decision on that point, it would be advisable for the first expert report to be prepared for 1991 and submitted to all the States Parties, subsequent reports being presented on a biennial basis. However, everything would obviously depend on the decision about convening a fourth Review Conference. With regard to the costs, the Secretary-General would have to make an estimate. Sweden hoped that the Conference would adopt its proposal, which was designed to improve the assessment of technological developments relevant to the Treaty.
- 25. Mr. GROSSI (Argentina) said he supported the Swedish proposal, since regular facilities were needed to communicate information relevant to the Treaty.
- 26. Mr. CLINARD (United States of America), referring to the proposal made by the Netherlands during the general debate on the holding of the next Review Conference, said it would be advisable to organize the Conference at the request of the majority of the States Parties, but not before 1996. The

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part III page 82

question of whether there were any technological developments relevant to the Treaty should be decided by the States Parties themselves and it was they, rather than a group of experts, which would obviously be costly, that should report on that subject. Until the next Review Conference was held, it would be helpful if the States Parties submitted reports, possibly on a triennial basis, which the Secretary-General would be requested to circulate.

- 27. Mr. LUDEKING (Federal Republic of Germany) endorsed the proposal of the Netherlands, which had been supported by the United States of America, and suggested that it would be helpful, as his delegation had already proposed at the First Review Conference (document SBT/CONF/22, of 28 June 1977), to follow the example set by article VIII of the Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques.
- 28. Mr. DEYANOV (Bulgaria) referred to the statement made by his delegation during the general debate and suggested that the Swedish proposal should be adopted and incorporated in the part of the Final Declaration of the Second Conference relating to article VII. He also added that article 35 of the rules of procedure, concerning the Drafting Committee, could be interpreted fairly flexibly.
- 29. Mr. PRANDLER (Representative of the Secretary-General) said that the reason why the United Nations Disarmament Yearbook had not reported any significant technological developments relevant to the Treaty was because no communication on that question had been submitted to the Secretary-General since 1983. He pointed out that, if the Conference adopted the Swedish proposal, the General Assembly would in turn have to examine it from the standpoint of its budgetary implications.
- 30. Ms. SOLESBY (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), referring to the Swedish proposal, raised the question of the criteria for collecting data on technological developments relevant to the Treaty. First, the exercise should be proportional to the aim in view, which, according to article VII, was to help the States Parties to review the operation of the Treaty and meet the requirements of the situation. However, it had been generally acknowledged that the Treaty had so far operated effectively and that technological developments did not yet require any urgent measure. Second, the information in question should be confined to the amount indispensable for the purposes of prohibiting the emplacement of nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed and for the purposes of verification. Third, such information should be from authoritative sources, namely the communications States Parties addressed to the Secretary-General and official documents that could be brought to his attention.
- 31. Still on the subject of article VII, she had thought initially that the information should be disseminated in conjunction with the Review Conferences. However, if the States Parties decided to hold the conferences at less frequent intervals, as some had suggested, it might be necessary to provide for an interim report containing updated information on the situation.
- 32. Mr. KOSIN (Yugoslavia) suggested that it would be logical to combine the proposals by the Netherlands and by Sweden. It should not be forgotten that the States Parties, although under an obligation to ensure the full and

universal application of the Treaty, could do so only on the basis of analyses and assessments. Yet they required sophisticated means that many States did not possess and it was in that respect that the Review Conferences could be useful. By holding the conferences at longer intervals but arranging for periodic dissemination of information from reliable sources, it might be possible to achieve the same result at lower cost.

- 33. Mr. SALANDER (Sweden) supported the three criteria that had been suggested by the representative of the United Kingdom, which he regarded as very similar to the concepts underlying the Swedish proposal. However, one further consideration should not be disregarded: any collection of data should also meet the particular needs of the many countries that lacked the capabilities and the specialized know-how needed to monitor developments in underwater technologies without outside assistance.
- 34. The PRESIDENT said that delegations seemed willing to refrain from setting a date for the Fourth Review Conference. Although no one appeared to question the need to have information on technological developments relevant to the Treaty, either immediately before the Review Conferences or periodically in the meanwhile, there were apparently some differences of opinion about the sources of information and the way of collecting and disseminating it. He therefore suggested that delegations that had made proposals or comments on those two questions should enter into consultations to devise a formula that could be examined by the Conference before being referred to the Drafting Committee. Such a course of action would be in keeping with the provisions of article 35 of the rules of procedure.

Article VIII

- 35. The PRESIDENT said that, if he heard no objection, he would take it that the text of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference should be referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 36. It was so decided.

Article IX

- 37. The PRESIDENT said that, if he heard no objection, he would take it that the text of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference should be referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 38. It was so decided.

Article X

- 39. The PRESIDENT said that some editing changes should be made to the text of the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference in order to reflect the passage of time and new accessions to the Treaty.
- 40. Mr. CLINARD (United States of America) suggested that the text should be made more positive in tone: the Conference could emphasize the number of States that had so far ratified or acceded to the Treaty, encourage the signatory countries to follow their example, and urge States that had not yet done so to become parties to the Treaty.

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part III page 84

- 41. Ms. COURTNEY (Australia) said she, too, hoped that the Conference would make an explicit appeal for the ratification by the nuclear-weapon States that were not parties to the Treaty, since, after all, those countries would be capable of placing weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed.
- 42. The PRESIDENT recalled that a number of delegations had expressed the same wish during the general debate.
- 43. Mr. DEYANOV (Bulgaria) inquired whether the representative of the United States had a text to propose.
- 44. Mr. CLINARD (United States of America) replied that, if necessary, he would be able to submit a text to the Drafting Committee.
- 45. The PRESIDENT said that it seemed to be the intention of the Conference to request the Drafting Committee to devise a formula that would take into account the suggestions and comments that had been made in that connection.
- C. PREAMBULAR PARAGRAPHS AND PURPOSES OF THE TREATY
- 46. The PRESIDENT said that, in the absence of any comment, the first two preambular paragraphs of the Final Declaration of 1983 were referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 47. Mr. GYORFFY (Hungary) proposed that the third preambular paragraph ("Affirming their belief that universal adherence to the Treaty would enhance international peace and security") should be amended in such a way as to refer explicitly to the desirability of adhesion by the nuclear—weapon Powers that were not yet parties to the Treaty.
- 48. The PRESIDENT requested the Drafting Committee to reword the paragraph.
- 49. He said that, in the absence of any comment, the fourth and fifth preambular paragraphs of the Final Declaration of 1983 were referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 50. Mr. GROSSI (Argentina) proposed that the sixth paragraph ("Considering that a trend towards a relaxation of tension ...") should be replaced by the corresponding paragraph of the Final Declaration of the First Review Conference, which read: "Considering that the continuation of the trend towards a relaxation of tension in international relations provides a favourable climate in which more significant progress can be made towards the cessation of the arms race". Such wording gave a more appropriate indication of the current climate of international relations, which was better than it had been at the time of the Second Review Conference.
- 51. Mr. GYORFFY (Hungary) said he, too, was in favour of adopting wording that took account of the new international situation.
- 52. Mr. DEYANOV (Bulgaria) proposed that, while remaining faithful to the spirit of the Argentine proposal, the paragraph should be amended as follows: "Considering that a trend towards a relaxation of tension and mutual confidence in international relations would provide a favourable climate in

which further progress could be made towards the cessation of the arms race and in disarmament". His delegation believed that, since the present climate was actually better than in 1977, adoption of the text of the Final Declaration of the First Review Conference, as it stood, would be insufficient.

- 53. The PRESIDENT requested the Drafting Committee to propose a new wording, on the understanding that the underlying spirit of the paragraph should not be modified.
- 54. He said that, in the absence of any comment, the seventh and eighth preambular paragraphs of the Final Declaration of 1983 were referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 55. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) proposed that the ninth paragraph should be amended to read: "Noting that the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 has already been signed by almost ... States and ratified by more than 40 States." The exact number of States that had signed the Convention would, of course, be indicated.
- 56. Mr. OZER (Turkey) said that the paragraph appearing in the preceding Final Declaration could be used as it stood and he was not in favour of lengthening it or placing greater emphasis on the Convention on the Law of the Sea, since he could see no direct link between the Conventions and the Treaty. Alteration of that paragraph, or the inclusion of a reference to the Convention on the Law of the Sea, would be out of keeping with the basic subject of the Treaty. The definitions contained in the 1982 Convention had a broader scope and extended the zone from which nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction should be excluded.
- 57. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) said he had merely intended to make the paragraph more explicit by mentioning the fact that the Convention had now been signed.
- 58. Mr. LUDEKING (Federal Republic of Germany) pointed out that the Final Declaration of the Second Review Conference had been drafted only a year after the conclusion of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, which might partly explain the presence of that paragraph in the Preamble. The fact none the less remained that article II of the Treaty had no direct bearing on the provisions of the Convention on the Law of the Sea, nor on the provisions of the 1958 Conventions. Since it was not essential to follow the text of the Final Declaration of 1983 word for word, the ninth paragraph could be deleted.
- 59. Mr. OZER (Turkey) supported that proposal.
- 60. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) said that, in his view, deletion of the paragraph would imply disregard not only for the Convention on the Law of the Sea, which was a multilateral instrument, but also for the endeavours that had been made since 1983 by the Preparatory Committee of the International Sea-Bed Authority and the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea.
- 61. Mr. AALBU (Norway) said he supported the proposal by the representative of the Federal Republic of Germany and noted that the substance of the Convention was mentioned in the paragraph that followed.

- 62. The PRESIDENT suggested that, in order to take account of the various comments that had been made, the ninth paragraph should be deleted and the tenth amended as required.
- 63. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) suggested that the tenth paragraph ("Affirming ... under the Treaty") should specify that the instrument in question was the <u>United Nations</u> Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982.
- 64. Mr. OZER (Turkey) said that the convention to which that paragraph referred was the one of 1958, which was currently in force, and it would be inappropriate to refer to a convention that had not yet entered into force.
- 65. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) pointed out that four conventions had been adopted in 1958: on the territorial sea and contiguous zone, on the continental shelf, on the high seas, and on fishing and conservation of the living resources of the high seas.
- 66. The PRESIDENT suggested that the paragraphs in question should include a number of points that would form the subject of consultations between the delegations concerned.
- 67. The eleventh paragraph ("<u>Taking note</u> ... the Depositary Governments") should be updated by changing the date and the name of the organ mentioned (<u>1989</u> instead of 1983, and <u>Conference on Disarmament</u> instead of Committee on Disarmament).
- 68. Mr. BERDENNIKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) proposed that that paragraph should refer to communications received not only from Depositary Governments but also from other Governments.
- 69. The PRESIDENT said that the Drafting Committee would amend the paragraph accordingly.

Twelfth paragraph ("Appealing ... their economic development").

Section entitled "PURPOSES"

- 70. The PRESIDENT said that, if he heard no objection, he would take it that the last preambular paragraph and the section entitled "PURPOSES" would be referred, as they stood, to the Drafting Committee.
- 71. It was so decided.

The meeting rose at 12.50 p.m.

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part II page 87

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.8 28 September 1989

Original: ENGLISH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 8th MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Monday, 25 September 1989, at 4 p.m.

President: Mr. DUARTE (Brazil)

CONTENTS

Credentials of representatives to the Conference:

(a) Appointment of the Credentials Committee (continued)

Review of the operation of the Treaty as provided for in its article VIII:

- (b) Articles I-XI
- (c) Preambular paragraphs and purposes of the Treaty (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the record of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

The meeting was called to order at 4.20 p.m.

CREDENTIALS OF REPRESENTATIVES TO THE CONFERENCE:

- (a) APPOINTMENT OF THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE (continued)
- 1. The PRESIDENT said that, following consultations, it had been proposed that the representative of Côte d'Ivoire be appointed a member of the Credentials Committee. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference agreed to that proposal.
- 2. It was so decided.

REVIEW OF THE OPERATION OF THE TREATY AS PROVIDED FOR IN ITS ARTICLE VII

- (b) ARTICLES I-XI
- (c) PREAMBULAR PARAGRAPHS AND PURPOSES OF THE TREATY (agenda item 11) (continued)
- 3. The PRESIDENT invited the Conference to continue its deliberations on issues that had not been settled at the morning meeting, with a view to reaching consensus on a preliminary text of the Final Declaration which could be forwarded to the Drafting Committee.
- 4. Following consultations between delegations, a revised text had been proposed for paragraph 6 of the preamble to the Declaration, which would read: "Considering that a continuation of the trend towards a relaxation of tensions and mutual trust in international relations would provide a favourable climate in which further progress can be made towards the cessation of the arms race and disarmament".
- 5. Mr. KENYON (United Kingdom) pointed out that the formulation would need some redrafting: as it stood, it implied that States Parties favoured a relaxation of mutual trust and a cessation of disarmament.
- 6. <u>The PRESIDENT</u> suggested that, on that understanding, the text should be referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 7. It was so decided.
- 8. The PRESIDENT said it had been proposed that the ninth preambular paragraph of the Final Declaration, beginning "Noting", should be deleted, and that the tenth preambular paragraph should be amended to read: "Affirming that nothing contained in the Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 affects the rights and obligations assumed by States Parties under the Treaty". It had further been proposed that the existing texts of article II and article IV should remain unchanged. He suggested that, on that understanding, those texts be referred to the Drafting Committee.
- 9. It was so decided.

- 10. The PRESIDENT said the delegation of Austria had proposed that a sentence should be added at the end of article II, to read: "All States Parties to the Treaty confirm that they have not emplaced any weapon of mass destruction on the sea-bed of their territorial waters outside the zone of application of the Treaty as defined by its article II, and have no intention to do so".
- 11. Mr. OZER (Turkey) suggested that, in order to avoid any possible misunderstanding, the phrase "outside the zone of application of the Treaty as defined by its article II" should be deleted.
- 12. Mr. BERDENNIKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) urged representatives not to make proposals for drafting changes at the present stage, but to leave it to the Drafting Committee to decide on the most appropriate wording, in the light of the views expressed during the discussion.
- 13. Mr. BIRBAUM (Austria) said it was his understanding that the suggestion by the representative of Turkey was of a drafting nature, and would not alter the sense of the article.
- 14. Mr. KENYON (United Kingdom) said that it was not simply an editing change and it could involve an important matter of principle. The Treaty had as its zone of application the area of sea defined by article II. Simply referring to "territorial waters", without bringing that concept into the context of the Treaty's own definition of its zone of application, could be dangerous, because each State Party had a different definition of territorial waters under its own legal system. The phrase in question was a useful one and he saw no need to delete it. Any possible misunderstanding could be avoided by adding a comma after "territorial waters".
- 15. Mr. GROSSI (Argentina) said it was most important that, in defining commitments of States Parties under the Treaty, the form of language should be precise. He agreed with the United Kingdom representative that the proposed text should make specific reference to the article defining the Treaty's zone of application. Again, in order to be consistent with the language used in the Treaty, reference should be made to nuclear weapons as well as to weapons of mass destruction.
- 16. Ms. COURTNEY (Australia) said her delegation had always held that it was essential to include a reference to the 12-mile limit in article II of the Treaty. It therefore supported retention of the phrase in question, as well as the addition of a reference to nuclear weapons.
- 17. Mr. LUDEKING (Federal Republic of Germany) suggested that, to avoid any possible misunderstanding, it might be preferable to delete the phrase "of their territorial waters" from the additional text proposed.
- 18. Mr. COUNINIOTIS (Greece) said he supported that suggestion.
- 19. The PRESIDENT said that the proposed text could be forwarded to the Drafting Committee, on the understanding that its purpose was not to redefine the zone of application, but rather to make clear what part of the sea-bed was being referred to.
- 20. It was so decided.

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part III page 90

- 21. The PRESIDENT asked the representative of Sweden whether he was yet in a position to propose a new text for article VII.
- 22. Mr. SALANDER (Sweden) said that consultations had been held with delegations and he hoped to be able to propose a formulation by the following morning.
- 23. Mr. CLINARD (United States) noted that the text of article V was still under consideration. Presumably the matter could be decided in the Drafting Committee.
- 24. The PRESIDENT said that article X also awaited a final formulation. There had been a suggestion that it should be made more positive but there had been no disagreement as to substance. The matter could be entrusted to the Drafting Committee.
- 25. Mr. GROSSI (Argentina), referring to the discussion on article V at the previous meeting, asked what points were the subject of consultation.
- 26. The PRESIDENT said no specific formulation had been put forward but the suggestion was that article V should reflect the fact that other developments in the field of disarmament in relation to weapons of mass destruction, though not specifically bearing on the area of application of the Treaty, were nevertheless relevant to its subject-matter. There would be no change of substance, but the article would become more comprehensive. That matter, too, could be entrusted to the Drafting Committee. Under the rules of procedure, the plenary had wide discretion to define the Drafting Committee's powers. Perhaps the Conference could decide that, in order to save time, the text for article VII might be presented by the Swedish representative direct to the Drafting Committee.
- 27. It was so decided.

The meeting rose at 5 p.m.

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part II page 91

Distr. GENERAL

SBT/CONF.III/SR.9 4 October 1989

Original: ENGLISH

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 9th MEETING

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Thursday, 28 September 1989, at 4 p.m.

President:

Mr. DUARTE

(Brazil)

CONTENTS

Adoption of arrangements for meeting the costs of the Conference (continued)

Report of the Credentials Committee

Report of the Drafting Committee

Adoption of the Final Document

Closure of the Conference

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of this meeting and of other meetings will be issued in a corrigendum.

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part III page 92

The meeting was called to order at 3.35 p.m.

ADOPTION OF ARRANGEMENTS FOR MEETING THE COSTS OF THE CONFERENCE (agenda item 10) (SBT/CONF.III/2 and Add.1) (continued)

1. Mr. LIN KUO-CHUNG (Secretary-General of the Conference) recalled that, at its third meeting, the Conference had taken up agenda item 10 and had taken a decision in accordance with rule 12 of the rules of procedure relating to the division of the costs of the Review Conference between participating States. In order to give a clear-cut picture of the percentage share of costs for each participant, he had requested the financial section of the Secretariat to provide a list of the assessments for delegations and it was set out in document SBT/CONF.III/2/Add.1. Any delegation which had a question about the document should consult the Secretariat as soon as possible.

REPORT OF THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE (agenda item 6 (b)) (SBT/CONF.III/12 */)

- Mr. IBANEZ (Chairman of the Credentials Committee), introducing the report of the Credentials Committee (SBT/CONF.III/12 */), said that the Committee had held two meetings and had studied the status of the credentials of the 53 States Parties and 2 signatory States participating in the Conference. It had also discussed the accreditation of the representatives of the signatory States attending the Conference. As of 27 September, the Committee had received 42 formal credentials in due form; 5 countries had submitted their provisional credentials in the form of cables or telefax messages; 6 countries had presented a list of their representatives by note verbale and letters from the respective Permanent Missions in Geneva. At its second meeting, the Committee had examined and accepted the credentials of the representatives of all the participating States, on the understanding that States which had not yet submitted formal credentials for their representatives should communicate them to the Secretary-General of the Conference at the earliest possible date. The Committee had adopted its report unanimously.
- 3. The PRESIDENT said that, if he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference wished to take note of the report of the Credentials Committee.
- 4. It was so decided.

REPORT OF THE DRAFTING COMMITTEE (agenda item 13) (SBT/CONF.III/14)

- 5. Mr. LIN KUO-CHUNG (Secretary-General of the Conference) apologized for some technical errors in the draft Final Declaration, contained in annex II of document SBT/CONF.III/14. The first sentence of the second paragraph of article V should read: "The Conference notes that negotiations aimed primarily at such measures have not yet taken place", and the third paragraph should read: "At the same time the Conference notes that other arms limitation and disarmament negotiations on measures with wider application that will contribute to the general objectives of the Treaty have been completed, are under way or are contemplated, and will, when successfully implemented, contribute to the effectiveness of the Treaty".
- 6. Mr. KOSTOV (Chairman of the Drafting Committee), introducing the report of the Drafting Committee (SBT/CONF.III/14), with the corrections to annex II announced by the Secretary-General of the Conference, said that the key

paragraph in the report was paragraph 6, which described the deliberations of the Drafting Committee as marked by a spirit of good will and mutual accommodation. That spirit had enabled the Committee to adopt a draft final document for the Conference by consensus. Annexed to the Committee's report were Parts I and II of the draft final document: Part I covered the organization of work of the Conference and Part II contained the draft Final Declaration of the Conference. Part III, as was stated in the report, would eventually contain the summary records of the plenary meetings.

- 7. The PRESIDENT suggested, that before proceeding to consider the draft final document, the Conference should take note of the report.
- 8. It was so decided.

ADOPTION OF THE FINAL DOCUMENT (agenda item 14) (SBT/CONF.III/14, annex)

- 9. The PRESIDENT invited the Conference to consider the draft final document (SBT/CONF.III/14, annex). As stated in paragraph 31 of Part I of the annex, dealing with the organization of work of the Conference, the summary records of the plenary meetings would constitute Part III of the final document and he reminded any delegations which wished to make corrections to the summary records to submit them. Paragraph 29 of Part I should read: "At a series ... the Drafting Committee considered a preliminary text referred to it by the Conference ...", as was stated in paragraph 5 of the Committee's report. Moreover, he would point out that the first paragraph of article V in the draft Final Declaration, in Part II of the annex, had been suggested by the Brazilian delegation.
- 10. If he heard no objection, he would take it that the Conference formally adopted the final document, as it appeared in the annex to the report of the Drafting Committee, together with the corrections thereto.

11. It was so decided.

- 12. Mr. BERDENNIKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics), referring to the last sentence of article II in the Final Declaration, said that extending the scope of the Treaty to territorial and inland waters and excluding such waters from the arms race was possible, provided that a system of verification was worked out to monitor the non-emplacement of nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction on the bed of such waters, since the régime governing them was significantly different from that governing the high seas.
- 13. Mr. KOSIN (Yugoslavia), speaking on behalf of the non-aligned countries, observed that mutual confidence had made it possible to extend the guarantees given in the 1960s to a field outside the scope of the Treaty. It once again proved that good will and co-operation between nations could guide them in the right direction.
- 14. Mr. CLINARD (United States of America) said that the new language in the preamble concerning the "continuation of the trend towards relaxation of tension and an increase of mutual trust" was encouraging. He also noted the last sentence of article II, to the effect that the State Parties confirmed that they neither had emplaced nor intended to emplace any weapons of mass destruction on the sea-bed outside the Treaty's zone of application. Equally

SBT/CONF.III/15 Part III page 94

encouraging was the reference in article V to various other ongoing arms negotiations. However, he would like to make it clear that none of the provisions in the Final Declaration in any way amended, modified or altered the language of the Treaty itself. For example, it was quite clear that the new language in article II was a statement of fact and of present intentions. It was not a <u>de facto</u> amendment to the Treaty and should not be viewed as such.

- 15. Ms. SOLESBY (United Kingdom) said that the Final Declaration had the full support of her delegation. She would merely add one point of substance, namely that she agreed with the interpretation placed by the United States delegation on the last sentence of article II.
- 16. Mr. KOSTOV (Bulgaria), speaking on behalf of East European countries, said that it appreciated the last sentence of article II, which said all States Parties confirmed they had not emplaced any nuclear weapons on the sea-bed outside the zone of application of the Treaty and had no intention to do so.
- 17. Mr. GROSSI (Argentina) said the Conference had been a useful one in that it had reviewed the operation of a multilateral disarmament instrument which embodied a prohibition on the most dangerous of weapons in existence i.e. nuclear weapons, as well as on other weapons of mass destruction. The Conference had also served the important purpose of affording an opportunity to discuss the impact of the present and potential impact of relevant technologies and, in addition, made it possible to devise a more precise and systematic mechanism for the dissemination, through the Secretary-General, of information on technological developments. It had envisaged expert assistance as well as the inclusion of dual technologies capable of being used for peaceful purposes and for military purposes. That point was of particular importance for adequate preparation of the next review conference.
- 18. Again, a flexible time-schedule had been agreed for the next review conference, thereby meeting the need for periodic review of nuclear disarmament multilateral instruments and the desirability of avoiding a rigid pattern inappropriate to matters of international security.
- 19. Lastly, his delegation wished to pay tribute to the efficiency and courtesy with which the President had conducted the proceedings of the Conference.
- 20. Mr. AALBU (Norway) joined in the tributes paid to the President's leadership and to the work of the Secretary-General of the Conference and all members of the Secretariat.
- 21. There was every reason for satisfaction with the results of the work of the Conference. Articles II and V of the Final Declaration were particularly important, and he believed that the description in article V of the situation with regard to negotiations relevant to the Sea-Bed Treaty was an improvement on previous statements on the same subject. His delegation wished to epxress its satisfaction at the more systematic follow-up mechanism regarding documentation and was equally satisfied with the time-schedule adopted for convening the next review conference, a schedule which had the necessary element of flexibility.

- 22. All delegations had shown a good spirit of co-operation and had thereby contributed to the successful outcome of the Conference.
- 23. Mr. WAGENMAKERS (Netherlands) said that the success of the Conference was due in large measure to its President, as well as to the other officers. He also wished to pay a tribute to the work of the Secretariat, ably led by the Secretary-General of the Conference.
- 24. The Conference had been a productive one: it had been an agreeable experience to review the operation of a Treaty that fulfilled its objectives and he hoped that the success of the Conference would help to persuade States which were not yet parties to join the Sea-Bed Treaty in the future.
- 25. As to the Final Declaration, his delegation welcomed the intention expressed in the last sentence of article II, on the understanding, however, that the sentence in question did not constitute a modification of the Sea-Bed Treaty itself.
- 26. Mr. SALANDER (Sweden) said that he wished to note the positive and encouraging results of the Third Review Conference, an outcome which was the result of the firm guidance of the President.
- 27. The Sea-Bed Treaty had already functioned well within its somewhat narrowly confined scope: the Conference had not only confirmed it once again but had strengthened its long-term credibility.
- 28. The statement in the Final Declaration regarding article II gave a welcome assurance on the part of the nuclear-weapon States, and of course all other States, that the objectives of the Treaty in the sea-bed area were being observed, even outside the zone of application of the Treaty, and that there was no intention by the States Parties to emplace nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction outside that zone. That statement helped to strengthen the present international régime covering the sea-bed area.
- 29. The Conference had also reiterated the fact that article V of the Treaty, on "further measures" for the prevention of an arms race on the sea-bed, the ocean floor and subsoil thereof, referred, above all, and in a strict sense, to the area covered by the Sea-Bed Treaty. That fact did not diminish the vital need for further disarmament measures in other fields of pertinence to the sea-bed.
- 30. In addition, the Conference had effectively strengthened the mechanism for the elaboration and dissemination of information on technological developments of relevance to the Treaty. Through the agreed periodic up-dating and dissemination of such information, Governments would have a much clearer picture of the functioning of the Treaty, something which would in turn enhance the Treaty's viability and standing.
- 31. Mr. OZER (Turkey) associated his delegation with the tributes paid to the President, whose able guidance has contributed so much to the successful outcome of the Conference, as well as to the other officers of the Conference, its Secretary-General and all members of the Secretariat.

- 32. The PRESIDENT thanked all delegations for their co-operation, which had made for the successful outcome of the Conference, whose deliberations had been thorough, so that all aspects of the Sea-Bed Treaty had been duly considered.
- 33. The work of the Conference had also been facilitated by the current positive climate in international relations in disarmament and security matters. It was to be hoped that those encouraging trends would continue and develop further, so as to help promote the overall objectives that the international community had defined in several multilateral instruments, including the Sea-Bed Treaty itself. Such objectives could be successfully attained only if the legitimate interests of all parties, large or small, powerful or unarmed, were duly taken into account in the agreements on disarmament and international security.
- 34. The success of any international agreement had to be measured not so much in terms of the number of States parties but mainly of its ability to satisfy the legitimate concerns of its prospective membership. The Sea-Bed Treaty had been called a "success story" and the present Conference had once again recognized that the Treaty was in keeping with that description. The Conference had noted with satisfaction the increase in participation, which had now risen to 82 parties and 23 signatories. By the same token, it had noted the importance of all of the current five nuclear-weapon Powers joining the treaty and abiding by its provisions.
- 35. Despite its relatively limited character, the Treaty had been recognized as a significant measure for preventing at least one aspect of the geographical proliferation of nuclear weapons. It also had a bearing on another important set of questions, namely those which dealt with the legal régime applicable to the sea. It could thus be legitimately considered as an essential building block in the common endeavours in the field of disarmament and international security.
- 36. In conclusion, he wished to express his gratitude to all delegations for their spirit of compromise and his deep appreciation to the Vice-Presidents, and to the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Drafting Committee and the Credentials Committee, and to the Special Representative of the Secretary-General of the United Nations. On behalf of all delegations he thanked the Secretary-General of the Conference and all members of the Secretariat for their dedicated work and declared the Third Review Conference closed.

ANNEX I

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

	TISI OF DOCOMENIE
SBT/CONF.III/1	Report of the Preparatory Committee for the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof
SBT/CONF.III/2 and	Revised estimated cost of the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof (Note by the Secretariat)
Add.1	Schedule of Division of Costs
SBT/CONF.III/3 and Corr.1 and Add.1	Developments relating to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil Thereof (1977-1989) (Background paper prepared by the Secretariat)
SBT/CONF.III/4 and Add.1 to Add.3	Note by the Secretariat (containing communications received from Depositary Governments and other States)
SBT/CONF.III/5	Rules of procedure for the Third Review Conference
SBT/CONF.III/6	Agenda for the Third Review Conference
SBT/CONF.III/7	Programme of work adopted by the Third Review Conference
SBT/CONF.III/8	Proposal of Sweden for inclusion in the Final Declaration
SBT/CONF.III/9 and Corr.1 (Spanish only) and Corr.2 (French only)	Declaration by Peru concerning the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and the Subsoil Thereof, and the Third Review Conference
SBT/CONF.III/10	Proposal of Turkey for inclusion in the Final Declaration
SBT/CONF.III/11	Note by the Secretariat (containing updated List of States Parties to and Signatories of the Sea-Bed Treaty)

SBT/CONF.III/15 Annex I

page 98

SBT/CONF.III/12

and Corr.1

Credentials of representatives to the Conference:

Report of the Credentials Committee

SBT/CONF.III/13

Declaration of the Greek delegation regarding Articles I, II, III and IV of the Sea-Bed Treaty of

1971

SBT/CONF.III/14

and Corr.1

Report of the Drafting Committee

SBT/CONF.III/15

Final Document of the Third Review Conference of the Parties to the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor

and in the Subsoil Thereof

SUMMARY RECORDS OF PLENARY MEETINGS

SBT/CONF.III/SR.1-9
?? (and Corrigendum)

Summary Records of the First to Ninth Plenary Meetings

DRAFTING COMMITTEE

SBT/CONF.III/DC/1 (English only)

Draft Report of the Drafting Committee

SBT/CONF.III/DC/CRP.1 (English only) and

Preliminary text of Final Declaration of the Third

Review Conference

Rev.1

(English only)

Draft text of Final Declaration of the Third Review

Conference

INFORMATION DOCUMENTS

SBT/CONF.III/INF.1

(English only)

Offices and telephone numbers

SBT/CONF.III/INF.2

List of States Parties which have adhered since the

Second Review Conference in September 1983

ANNEX II

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

I. STATES PARTIES

AFGHANISTAN

Address: 20 rue Crespin, 1206 Geneva

Tel:

46 77 11

H.E. Mr. M.A. KHERAD

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent de la

République d'Afghanistan auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

ARGENTINA

Address: 110 avenue Louis-Casaï, 1215 Geneva 15

Tel: 798 59 59

Sr. Roberto GARCIA MORITAN

Ministro

Director General de Asuntos Nucleares,

Espaciales y de Seguridad Internacional, Buenos Aires

Jefe de la Delegación

Sr. Rafael GROSSI

Secretario de Embajada

Misión Especial de la República Argentina para Desarme, Ginebra

Representante Alterno

Sr. Gustavo ZLAUVINEN

Secretario de Embajada

Dirección General de Asuntos

Nucleares, Espaciales y de Seguridad

Internacional, Buenos Aires

Representante Alterno

AUSTRALIA

Address: 56-58 rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel: 734 62 00

H.E. Mr. Ronald Alfred WALKER

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Australia to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Ms. Jill Bernardine COURTNEY

Representative

Mr. Gordon S.L. ECKERSLEY

Representative

Annex II page 100

AUSTRIA

9-11 rue de Varembé, 1211 Geneva 20 Address:

Tel:

733 77 50

H.E. Mr. Günter BIRBAUM

Ambassador

Head of Delegation

Mr. Willy KEMPEL

Secretary of Embassy

Permanent Mission of Austria to the United Nations Office at Geneva

BELGIUM

Address: 58 rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel:

733 81 50

Mme M. VER ELST

Conseiller

Représentation Permanente de la Belgique auprès de la Conférence

du Désarmament Chef de Délégation

M. P. DUBUISSON

Secrétaire d'Ambassade

BRAZIL

33 rue Antoine-Carteret, 1202 Geneva Address:

Tel:

733 31 50

H.E. Mr. Sérgio de QUEIROZ DUARTE Ambassador of Brazil before the

Government of the Republic of Nicaragua

Head of Delegation

Mr. Georges LAMAZIERE

First Secretary

Brazilian Delegation for Disarmament

and Human Rights

Delegate

BULGARIA

16 chemin des Crêts-de-Pregny, 1218 Grand-Saconnex Address:

Tel:

798 03 00

H.E. Mr. Dimitar KOSTOV

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of

Bulgaria to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr. Plamen GROZDANOV

Minister Plenipotentiary

Deputy Permanent Representative of Bulgaria to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

Annex II page 101

Mr. Radoslav DEYANOV

First Secretary

United Nations and Disarmament

Department, Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr. Gueorgui DIMITROV

Third Secretary

Permanent Mission of the People's

Republic of Bulgaria to the United Nations Office at Geneva

BYELORUSSIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC

Address: 15 avenue de la Paix, 1211 Geneva 20

Tel:

733 18 70

Mr. S.N. MARTYNOV

Deputy Head

Department of International

Organizations, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Byelorussian Soviet

Socialist Republic Head of Delegation

Mr. A.N. SYCHEV

Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of the Byelorussian Soviet Socialist Republic to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Delegate

CANADA

Address: 1 ch. du Pré-de-la-Bichette, 1202 Geneva

Tel:

733 90 00

Mr. P. MACKINNON

Counsellor and Consul

Permanent Mission of Canada to the United Nations Office at Geneva Representative and Head of Delegation

COTE D'IVOIRE

Address: 47 av. Blanc, 1211 Geneva 21

Tel:

731 89 60

S.E. M. Emmanuel Kouassi NOUAMA

Ambassadeur

Répresentant Permanent à Genève

Chef de la délégation

M. Kouadio ADJOUMANI

Conseiller

Mission Permanente à Genève

Membre

CUBA

Address: 100 chemin de Valérie, 1292 Chambésy

Tel: 758 23 26

Sra. Magda L. BAUTA SOLES

Primer Secretario

Misión permanente ante la oficina de

las Naciones Unidas en Suiza

Annex II page 102

CYPRUS

Address: 34 chemin François-Lehmann, 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel: 798 21 50

H.E. Mr. Vanias MARKIDES Ambassador

Permanent Representative, Geneva

Mr. George ZODIATES First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Cyprus, Geneva

CZECHOSLOVAKIA

Address: 9 chemin de l'Ancienne Route, 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel: 798 91 82

H.E. Mr. Vratislav VAJNAR Ambassador

Permanent Representative of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Mr. Zdenek PAGAC Minister-Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic to the

United Nations Office at Geneva

Mr. Andrej CIMA Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of the Czechoslovak

Socialist Republic, Geneva

Mr. Petr KUBES Third Secretary

Permanent Mission of the Czechoslovak

Socialist Republic, Geneva

Mr. Ivan MOROZ Third Secretary

Permanent Mission of the Czechoslovak

Socialist Republic, Geneva

DENMARK

Address: 58 rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel: 733 71 50

Mr. Carsten Sode MOGENSEN Minister-Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Denmark to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Representative

Mr. Jorgen Maersk PEDERSEN Counsellor of Embassy

Permanent Mission of Denmark to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Alternate Representative

ETHIOPIA

Address: 56 rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel: 733 07 50

Ms. Kongit SINEGIORGIS

Chargé d'Affaires a.i.

Permanent Mission of the People's Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Gezahegne TSEGAYE

Counsellor,

Permanent Mission of the People's Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Member of Delegation

Mr. Fikre Mariam TSEHAYE

First Secretary

Permanent Mission of the People's Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Member of Delegation

Mrs. Nardos WORKU

Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of the People's Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Member of Delegation

FINLAND

Address: 149a route de Ferney, 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel: 798 03 03

Mr. Erkki KOURULA

Director for International Law Affairs

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Representative

Mr. Aapo POLHO

First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Finland to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Alternate Representative

Mr. Aleksi HARKONEN

First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Finland to the

United Nations Office at Geneva

Alternate Representative

Ms. Satu MATTILA

Adviser

Ms. Outi HOLOPAINEN

Adviser

Mr. Olavi TAMMINEN

Adviser

Annex II page 104

GERMAN DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC

Address: 49 rue de Moillebeau, 1209 Geneva

Tel: 733 67 50

H.E. Mr. Peter DIETZE

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of the German Democratic Republic to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Siegfried KAHN

Counsellor

Permanent Mission of the German Democratic Republic to the United Nations Office at Geneva

GERMANY, FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF

Address: 28c, chemin du Petit-Saconnex, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel:

732 44 43

Mr. Rüdiger LUDEKING

Counsellor

Delegation of the Federal Republic of

Germany to the Conference on

Disarmament, Geneva Head of Delegation

Mr. Helmut HERZBRUCH

Counsellor

Delegation of the Federal Republic of

Germany to the Conference on

Disarmament, Geneva

Delegate

Mr. Rolf MAFAEL

First Secretary

Delegation of the Federal Republic of

Germany to the Conference on

Disarmament, Geneva

Delegate

Dr. Hans Dieter HEUMANN

First Secretary

Federal Foreign Office

Delegate

page 105

GHANA

Address: 56 rue de Moillebeau, Geneva 1209

Tel: 734 91 50

H.E. Mr. Kojo AMOO-GOTTFRIED Ambassador to Switzerland and

Permanent Representative to the

United Nations, Geneva Head of Delegation

Mr. H.O. BLAVO Minister-Counsellor and Deputy

Permanent Representative

Ghana Permanent Mission, Geneva

Alternate

Mr. K.A. TENKORANG Counsellor

Ghana Permanent Mission, Geneva

Adviser

GREECE

Address: 2 rue S. Thalberg, 1201 Geneva

Tel: 732 33 56

H.E. Mr. Euripide KERKINOS Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Greece to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Nicolaos COUNINIOTIS First Counsellor

Deputy Permanent Representative of Greece to the United Nations Office at

Geneva

Mr. Dimitris ILIOPOULOS First Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Greece to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Dr. Emmanuel GOUNARIS Counsellor-Expert

Adviser

HUNGARY

Address: 81 av. du Champel, 1206 Geneva

Te1: 46 03 23

H.E. Mr. Istvan VARGA Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Hungary to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Csaba GYORFFY Counsellor, Permanent Mission of

Hungary to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

Mr. György SZENASI Counsellor, Permanent Mission of

Hungary to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

Annex II page 106

ICELAND

Address: 9-11 rue de Varembé, 1211 Geneva 20

Tel: 733 96 87

H.E. Mr. Kjartan JOHANNSSON Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Iceland to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Mr. Kristinn F. ARNASON First Secretary, Deputy Permanent

Representative of Iceland to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Ms. Bjarnveig EIRIKSDOTTIR First Secretary, Permanent Mission of

Iceland to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

INDIA

Address: 9 rue du Valais, 1202 Geneva

Te1: 732 08 59

H.E. Mr. Kamalesh SHARMA Ambassador and Permanent Representative

of India to the United Nations Office

at Geneva Leader

Mr. Rakesh SOOD First Secretary

Permanent Mission of India to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Alternate Leader

IRAO

Address: 28a, ch. du Petit-Saconnex, 1209 Geneva

Tel: 734 07 60

Mr. Gh. Adil KHALIL Second Secretary, Permanent Mission of

Iraq to the United Nations Office at

Geneva

IRELAND

Address: 45-47 rue de Lausanne, 1211 Geneva 2

Tel. 732 85 50

H.E. Mr. Michael LILLIS Ambassador and Permanent

Representative of Ireland to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Delegate

Mr. M. FLYNN Deputy Permanent Representative of

Ireland to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

Alternate Delegate

Mr. C. O'FLOINN First Secretary, Permanent Mission of

Ireland to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

Alternate Delegate

Mr. B. HANBERRY Executive Officer, Permanent Mission

of Ireland to the United Nations

Office at Geneva Alternate Delegate

ITALY

Address: 10 ch. de l'Impératrice, 1292 Pregny

Tel: 734 93 50

S.E. M. Andrea NEGROTTO CAMBIASO Ambassadeur, Représentant Permanent

auprès de la Conférence du Désarmement

Chef de la délégation

M. Fabrizio PIAGGESI Conseiller, Mission Permanente de

l'Italie auprès de la Conférence du

Désarmement

Admiral Mario DE FEO Mission Permanente de l'Italie auprès

de la Conférence du Désarmement

M. Giacomo SANFELICE DI

MONTEFORTE

Ministère des Affaires Etrangères

Dr. Andrea PERUGINI Mission Permanente de l'Italie auprès

de la Conférence du Désarmement

JAPAN

Address: 35 av. de Budé, 1202 Geneva

Tel: 733 04 03

Mr. Ken MATSUI

Mr. Toshio WATANABE Counsellor, Delegation to the

Conference on Disarmament

Representative

Mr. Chihiro ATSUMI First Secretary, Delegation to the

Conference on Disarmament Alternate Representative

vicernace vehicacine

First Secretary, Delegation to the

Conference on Disarmament

Adviser

Mr. Nobuaki YAMAMOTO Second Secretary, Delegation to the

Conference on Disarmament

Adviser

Mr. Hiroshi MATSUMOTO Official of the Disarmament Division

United Nations Bureau, Ministry of

Foreign Affairs

Adviser

Annex II page 108

JORDAN

Address: 47 rue de Lausanne, 1201 Geneva

Tel: 731 71 35

H.E. Mr. Farouq KASRAWI

Minister Plenipotentiary

Mr. Fakhri MATALQAH

Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Jordan to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Mr. Omar EL-NATHEEF

Third Secretary

Permanent Mission of Jordan to the United Nations Office at Geneva

LUXEMBOURG

Address: 28A chemin du Petit-Saconnex, 1209 Geneva

Tel: 734 33 80

Mr. René ZAHLES

Chargé de Mission auprès de la representation permanente du

Luxembourg auprès des organisations

internationales à Genève

MALAYSIA

Address: 43 rue de Lausanne, 1201 Geneva

Te1: 732 83 40

H.E. Mr. Dato' MOHD YUSOF HITAM

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Malaysia to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Leader

Mr. OTHMAN HASHIM

First Secretary

Embassy of Malaysia in Switzerland

Berne Member

MALTA

Address: 2 parc du Château-Banquet, 1202 Geneva

Tel: 731 05 80

H.E. Mr. Alfred J. BELLIZZI

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Malta to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Richard SALIBA

First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Malta to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Representative

page 109

MEXICO

Address: 6 chemin de la Tourelle, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel: 798 47 10

S.E. Sr. Alfonso GARCIA ROBLES Embajador

Representante Permanente de México ante la Conferencia de Desarme, Ginebra

Representante

S.E. Sr. Miguel MARIN BOSCH Embajador

Representante Permanente de México ante los Organismos Internacionales

Ginebra

Representante Alterno

Sra. Perla CARVALHO Ministro

Misión Permanente de México ante la Conferencia de Desarme, Ginebra

Asesore

Sra. Andrea GARCIA Segundo Secretario

Misión Permanente de México ante la Conferencia de Desarme, Ginebra

Asesore

MONGOLIA

Address: 4 chemin des Mollies, 1293 Bellevue

Tel: 774 19 74

H.E. Mr. Luvsandorjiin BAYART Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Mongolia to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Mr. Zagaryn ERENDO First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Mongolia to the

United Nations Office at Geneva

MOROCCO

Address: 18A chemin François-Lehmann, 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel: 798 15 35

S.E. M. El Ghali BENHIMA Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent du Royaume du

Maroc à Genève

M. Omar HILALE Conseiller près la Mission Permanente

du Maroc

M. Omar ZNIBER Conseiller près la Mission Permanente

du Maroc

Annex II page 110

NETHERLANDS

Address: 56 rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel: 733 73 50

H.E. Mr. Hendrik WAGENMAKERS Ambassador

Representative of the Kingdom of the Netherlands to the Conference on

Disarmament

Head of Delegation

Mr. Max GEVERS First Secretary

Permanent Mission of the Kingdom of the Netherlands to the United Nations

Office at Geneva

Ms. Louise MIEDEMA Third Secretary

Permanent Mission of the Kingdom of the Netherlands to the United Nations

Office at Geneva

NEW ZEALAND

Address: 28A chemin du Petit-Saconnex, 1211 Geneva 19

Te1: 734 95 30

H.E. Mr. Graham Charles FORTUNE Ambassador

Permanent Representative of

New Zealand to the United Nations

Office at Geneva Head of Delegation

Mr. Peter Howard RIDER First Secretary

Permanent Mission of New Zealand to the United Nations Office at Geneva

the United Nations Office at Geneva

Ms. Caroline Peta BILKEY Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of New Zealand to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Mr. Donald James MACKAY Director Designate

Disarmament Division, Ministry of

External Relations and Trade

Wellington Adviser NICARAGUA

Address: 16 rue de Roveray, 1207 Geneva

Tel: 736 66 44

S.E. M. Gustavo-Adolfo VARGAS Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent du Nicaragua auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à

Genève

M. Juan GAZOL Ministre Conseiller

Mission permanente du Nicaragua auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

de i office des Nations unies a Gen

M. Mario CASTELLON Conseiller

Mission permanente du Nicaragua auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

NORWAY

Address: 58 rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel: 734 97 30

H.E. Mr. Martin HUSLID Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Norway to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Torbjorn AALBU Minister

Permanent Mission of Norway to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Representative

Mr. Helge YSTGAARD Senior Executive Officer

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Representative

Mr. Kaare R. AAS Secretary of Embassy

Permanent Mission of Norway to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Representative

PANAMA

Address: 36 bvd Helvétique, 1207 Geneva

Te1: 786 24 86

Sr. Flor de Maria MONTEVERDE Representante Permanente Adjuncto

Sra. Mirta Saavedra POLO Ministro Consejero

Annex II page 112

POLAND

Address: 15 chemin de l'Ancienne Route, 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel: 798 11 61

S.E. M. Bogumil SUJKA Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et

Plénipotentiaire, Représentant

Permanent de Pologne auprès du Bureau

des Nations Unies à Genève Président de la délégation

M. Andrzej TOWPIK Conseiller-Ministre Plénipotentiaire à

la Représentation Permanente de Pologne auprès du Bureau des

Nations Unies à Genève

Mr. Sylwin GIZOWSKI Conseiller à la Représentation

Permanente de Pologne auprès du Bureau

des Nations Unies à Genève

PORTUGAL

Address: 1 rue Richard Wagner, 1202 Geneva

Te1: 733 32 00

COSTA LOBO

H.E. Mr. Antonio LEAL DA Permanent Representative of Portugal

to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

M. Jose Julio PEREIRA GOMES Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Portugal, Geneva

OATAR

Address: 149b route de Ferney, 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel: 798 85 00

H.E. Mr. Mohammed Salem Rashid

AL-KUWARI

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Qatar to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Saleh Abdulla Saleh AL-BOUANIN First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Qatar to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Alternate

Mr. Rashid Muftah AL-KHATER Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Qatar to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Alternate

Mr. Ziad Mustapha KHARMA Adviser

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

Address: 20 rte Pré-Bois, 1215 Genève

Tel: 791 01 11

H.E. Mr. Sang Ock LEE Ambassador Extraordinary and

Plenipotentiary, Permanent Mission of

the Republic of Korea to Geneva

Representative

Mr. Ryang LEE Counsellor, Permanent Mission of the

Republic of Korea to Geneva

Alternate

Mr. Eun-Soo KIM First Secretary, Permanent Mission of

the Republic of Korea to Geneva

Alternate

Mr. Jong-Il KIM First Secretary, Permanent Mission of

the Republic of Korea to Geneva

Alternate

ROMANIA

Address: 6 ch. de la Perrière, 1223 Cologny

Tel: 752 10 90

S.E. M. Gheorghe DOLGU Ambassadeur, Représentant permanent de

la République Socialiste de Roumanie

Chef de la délégation

M. Gheorghe CHIRILA Conseiller à la Mission permanente de

la République Socialiste de Roumanie Adjoint du Chef de la délégation

M. Sabin POP Conseiller au Ministère des affaires

étrangères

Membre de la délégation

SPAIN

Address: 53 av. Blanc, 1201 Geneva

Tel: 731 22 30

S.E. Sr. D. Eduardo IBANEZ y Embajador de España, Delegado en la

GARCIA de VELASCO Conferencia de Desarme

Presidente

Sra. Doña Cecilia YUSTE Primer Secretario de Embajada

Ministerio de Asuntos Exteriores Dirección General de Asuntos

Internacionales de Seguridad y Desarme

Delegado

Sr. Don Francisco SANABRIA Segundo Secretario de Embajada

Ministerio de Asuntos Exteriores

Dirección General de Asuntos

Internacionales de Seguridad y Desarme

Annex II page 114

SWEDEN

Address: 62 rue de Vermont, 1201 Genève

Tel: 734 44 00

Mr. Henrik SALANDER Deputy Assistant Under-Secretary

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Head of Delegation

Mr. Christer ELM First Secretary, Swedish Mission to

the Conference on Disarmament

Delegate

Mr. Lennart GRENSTAD Military Adviser

Delegate

Mr. Johan FORSLUND Captain (Navy)

Delegate

Mr. Hans-Olof ZETTERSTROM Head of Section, National Defence

Research Establishment

Delegate

Mr. Jan PRAWITZ Scientific Adviser, Ministry of Defence

Delegate

SWITZERLAND

Address: 9-11 rue de Varembé, Genève

Te1: 733 52 00

M. René PASCHE Adjoint diplomatique, Service des

Questions politiques spéciales

Chef de la délégation

M. Bruno Rösli Collaborateur du Bureau de la

Politique de Sécurité, Etat-major du groupement de l'etat-major général

TURKEY

Address: 28 ch. du Petit-Saconnex, 1211 Genève 19

Tel: 734 39 30

M. Onur GOKCE Ministre Conseiller, Représentant

permanent adjoint, Mission permanente

de Turquie, Genève Chef de la délégation

M. Ercan OZER Directeur du Département de

Désarmement du Ministère des Affaires

étrangères de Turquie

Chef adjoint de la délégation

Prof. Dr. Hüseyin PAZARCI Conseiller juridique principal du

Ministère des Affaires Etrangères de

Turquie

M. Hasan Servet OKTEM Conseiller, Mission permanente de

Turquie, Genève

UKRAINIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC

Address: 15 avenue de la Paix, 1211 Geneva 20

Te1: 733 18 70

Mr. Boris I. KORNEENKO Department of the

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the

Ukrainian SSR Head of Delegation

Mr. Vladimir Y. BELASHOV First Secretary of the Ministry of

Foreign Affairs of the Ukrainian SSR

Member of Delegation

Mr. Nikolai I. MAIMESKUL Second Secretary of the Permanent

Mission of the Ukrainian SSR to the United Nations Office and other

international organizations in Geneva

Member of Delegation

UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS

Address: 15 avenue de la Paix, Geneva

Tel: 733 18 70

Mr. G.V. BERDENNIKOV Head of Delegation

Deputy Chief

Department of Arms Limitation and

Disarmament

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr. A.G. RIABINKOV Member of Delegation

Expert

Department of Arms Limitation and

Disarmament

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr. V.P. GOLOVIN Member of Delegation

Ministry of Defence

Mr. I.N. SCHERBAK Senior Counsellor

Permanent Mission of the USSR, Geneva

Mr. S.R. ROUDENKO First Secretary

Department of Arms Limitation and

Disarmament

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr. S.F. SEDOV First Secretary

Permanent Mission of the USSR, Geneva

Annex II page 116

Mr. A.V. PIROGOV

Second Secretary

Department of International

Organizations

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr. V.I. MIZIN

Second Secretary

Department of Arms Limitation and

Disarmament

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr. V.Y. ANISIMOV

Attaché

Permanent Mission of the USSR, Geneva

UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND

NORTHERN IRELAND

Address: 37-39 rue de Vermont, 1211 Geneva 20

Te1: 734 38 00

H.E. Miss T.A.H. SOLESBY, C.M.G.

Leader of the United Kingdom

Delegation to the Conference on

Disarmament

Leader of Delegation

Mr. I.R. KENYON

Counsellor

United Kingdom Delegation to the

Conference on Disarmament

Alternate Leader

Col. T.T. TAYLOR, M.B.E.

Military Adviser

United Kingdom Delegation to the

Conference on Disarmament

Capt. J.F. PEROWNE, R.N.

Ministry of Defence Adviser

Mr. S.J. GREEN

Third Secretary

United Kingdom Delegation to the

Conference on Disarmament

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Address: 11 route de Pregny, 1292 Chambésy

Tel: 799 02 11

Mr. David M. CLINARD

Assistant Director for Multilateral

Affairs

Arms Control and Disarmament Agency

Representative

Mr. Archelaus R. TURRENTINE

Multilateral Affairs Bureau

Arms Control and Disarmament Agency

Alternate Representative

Mr. Walter L. BAUMANN

Office of the General Counsel

Arms Control and Disarmament Agency

Adviser

page 117

Mr. John Peter A. BERNHARDT

Deputy Director

Office of Ocean Law and Policy Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs

Department of State

Adviser

Ms. Katharine C. CRITTENBERGER

Chief

International Security Affairs

Division

Multilateral Affairs Bureau

Arms Control and Disarmament Agency

Adviser

Mr. John T. OLIVER

Lt.-Commander, USN

Plans and Policy, Joint Staff

Department of Defense

Adviser

Mr. Kenneth P. RAPUANO

International Security Policy
Office of the Secretary of Defense

Department of Defense

Adviser

YUGOSLAVIA

Address: 5 chemin Thury, 1206 Geneva

Tel:

46 44 43

H.E. Mr. Marko KOSIN

Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Yugoslavia

to the United Nations, Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Dimitrije CULAFIC

Minister-Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Yugoslavia, Geneva

Member of Delegation

Mrs. Dusanka DIVJAK-TOMIC

First Secretary

International Organizations Department Federal Secretariat of Foreign Affairs

Member of Delegation

II. SIGNATORIES

BOLIVIA

Sr. Armando Loaiza MARIACA

Ministro Consejero

Misión Permanente de la República de

Bolivia ante la Oficina de las Naciones Unidas en Ginebra

Annex II page 118

COLOMBIA

Address: 17-18 chemin du Champ-d'Anier, 1209 Geneva

Tel: 798 45 54

S.E. Sr. Rafael RIVAS POSADA Embajador

Representante Permanente de Colombia ante la oficina de las Naciones Unidas

en Ginebra

Sr. Juan Manuel CANO Tercer Secretario

Misión Permanente de Colombia ante la

oficina de las Naciones Unidas en

Ginebra

III. OBSERVERS

ALGERIA

Address: 308 route de Lausanne, 1293 Bellevue

Tel: 774 19 86

M. Mohamed TEFIANI Deuxième Secrétaire

Mission Permanente d'Algérie à Genève

ANGOLA

BANGLADESH

Address: 65 rue de Lausanne, 1202 Geneva

Tel: 732 59 40

H.E. Mr. HARUN-UR-RASHID Ambassador/Permanent Representative

Permanent Mission of Bangladesh

Geneva

Ms. Nasim FIRDAUS First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Bangladesh

Geneva

BURKINA FASO

ECUADOR

Address: 139 rue de Lausanne, 1202 Geneva

Te1: 731 48 79

Sr. Rubén RIVADENEIRA SUAREZ Ministro

Representante Permanente Alterno del

Ecuador, Ginebra

Sr. Iñigo SALVADOR CRESPO Segundo Secretario

Misión Permanente del Ecuador, Ginebra

EGYPT

Address: 49 av. Blanc, 1202 Geneva

Tel:

H.E. Dr. Nabil ELARABY Ambassador

Permanent Representative of the Arab Republic of Egypt to the Office of the

United Nations at Geneva

Dr. Mahmoud KAREM Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Egypt

Mr. Mohammed GOMAA Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Egypt

KENYA

Address: 80 rue de Lausanne, 1202 Geneva

Tel: 732 72 72

H.E. Prof. Thomas ARIBA OGADA Permanent Representative of Kenya to

the United Nations, Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. Harrison Bismarck NDORIA

GICHERU

Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Kenya, Geneva

Deputy Leader of Delegation

Mr. Michael Denis KINYANJUI Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Kenya, Geneva

Member of Delegation

Mr. Daniel Koikai MEPUKORI Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Kenya, Geneva

Member of Delegation

NIGERIA

Address: 1 rue Richard Wagner, 1211 Geneva

Tel: 734 21 40

H.E. Mr. E.A. AZIKIWE Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Nigeria to

the United Nations, Geneva

Head of Delegation

Mr. S.O.E. OMENE Minister-Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Nigeria, Geneva

Member

Annex II page 120

PERU

Address: 63 rue de Lausanne, 1202 Geneva

Tel: 731 11 30

Dr. Félix CALDERON Ministro Consejero

Delegado Alterno del Perú ante la

Conferencia de Desarme

Sr. Fernando QUIROS Tercer Secretario

PHILIPPINES

Address: 47 avenue Blanc, 1202 Geneva

Tel: 731 83 20

H.E. Mrs. Narcisa L. ESCALER Permanent Representative to the

United Nations, Geneva

Mr. Leslie B. GATAN Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of the Philippines,

Geneva

SRI LANKA

Address: 56 rue de Moillebeau, 1211 Geneva 19

Tel: 734 93 40

H.E. Mr. W. RASAPUTRAM Permanent Representative of Sri Lanka

to the United Nations, Geneva

Mr. S. PALIHAKKARA First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Sri Lanka, Geneva

SYRIA

Address: 72 rue de Lausanne, 1202 Geneva

Tel: 732 65 22

H.E. Dr. Sami GLAIEL Ambassador

Permanent Representative of Syria to

the United Nations, Geneva

Mr. Nabih HUSSAMI Second Secretary

Permanent Mission of Syria, Geneva

Mr. Karim ATASSI Ministry of Foreign Affairs

VENEZUELA

Address: 18a chemin François-Lehmann, 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel: 798 26 21

Srta. Jenny CLAUWAERT GONZALEZ Segundo Secretario

Misión Permanente de Venezuela, Ginebra

* * *

IV. UNITED NATIONS

Mr. Yasushi AKASHI Special Representative of the

Secretary-General of the United Nations

Mr. Arpád PRANDLER Representative of the

Secretary-General of the United Nations

V. SECRETARIAT OF THE THIRD REVIEW CONFERENCE

Mr. LIN Kuo-Chung Secretary-General of the Third Review

Conference

Mr. Vladimir BOGOMOLOV Political Affairs Officer

Mr. Michael CASSANDRA Political Affairs Officer

Ms. Anita NG Secretary to the Secretary-General of

the Third Review Conference

Ms. Wilma GIBSON Conference Secretarial Assistant

Ms. Audrey MARRABLE Conference Secretarial Assistant

Ms. Flavie ROUX Conference Secretarial Assistant

Ms. Margaret SHARP Conference Secretarial Assistant